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Tuesday, July 13, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Good morning.  So we have here today EB-2010-0184, and I am just referring to Procedural Order No. 3, just to introduce the proceeding before we get to appearances.

The 26th of April of this year, the Board received a notice of motion from the Consumers Council of Canada, Mr. Warren, and regarding the assessments issued by the Board pursuant to section 26.1 of the OEB Act.  And on the 11th of May -- I am not going to go through all of the procedural matters which have occurred.  You don't need that, but it's just to introduce the proceeding.

We issued a notice of hearing and Procedural Order No. 1, and we addressed this to Consumers Council, the Attorney General of Ontario and Canada, and the Ministry of Energy and Infrastructure.


In that notice, the Board stated that before determining whether or not it will hear the motion, the Board intends to hear argument on a number of preliminary questions that were set out in the notice.

The Board also set dates for filing of written arguments and oral submissions, and the Board issued an amended notice of hearing and Procedural Order No. 1 on May 11th, 2010, and there have been other, obviously, procedural orders. 

So by way of introduction, perhaps we could go directly to appearances.
Appearances:

MR. WARREN:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  My name is Robert Warren, and with me is my colleague Catherine Powell.  We appear for the moving parties, Consumers Council of Canada and Aubrey LeBlanc.

MR. WETSTON:  Ms. Powell, is it?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, it is.

MR. WETSTON:  And Mr. LeBlanc.  Is he here?

MR. WARREN:  He is not here.

MR. WETSTON:  Your mic is off.  Okay, thank you.

MS. MINOR:  Janet Minor and Robert Donato for Ontario, the Attorney General of Ontario.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson, Mr. Chairman, for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, CME.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, Elisabeth DeMarco here on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, APPrO.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.
 Anyone else?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  George Vegh for Union Gas Limited.  I am joined by Pat McMahon, manager, regulatory research and records, and Joe Marra, director of legal affairs at Union Gas.

MR. WETSTON:  That gives me a good idea for reorganization here at the Board.  Research, records and regulatory?

MR. McMAHON:  Regulatory research.

MR. WETSTON:  I guess it's not that important, but I'm interested in it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined today by Lenore Dougan, and Adrian Pye and Giovanna Dragic.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Anyone else?  Okay.  We did get a letter from Ian Mondrow.  Does everyone have a copy of that letter?  He is not appearing, obviously, but he sent a letter of further submissions.  Does everyone have a copy of that?

MR. WARREN:  I have seen it, Mr. Chairman.

MR. WETSTON:  Does that mean you have a copy of it?

MR. WARREN:  I don't have a copy of it, but I received it.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, we received it yesterday, so I just bring it to your attention.  And we have received another late correspondence from Mr. Thompson I think, yesterday.  Everybody have that?  I just want to make sure everybody has got all the paper.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I sent something yesterday, Mr. Chairman, and it refers to an enclosure that unfortunately wasn't enclosed, so I sent that subsequently.  So I hope everybody has both documents.  If not, I some additional copies here.

MR. WETSTON:  I just want to make sure that we have all the documents, Mr. Thompson.  What was the enclosure?

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, it was a letter of June 9, 2010, where we circulated our factum to all of the licensed electricity distributors.

MR. WETSTON:  I see.  Thank you very much.  Do you have that, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  It turns out -- having more than competent assistance, it turns out Ms. Powell has the letter from Ian Mondrow.  I should say, by way of introduction, Mr. Chairman, that in terms of the moving parties' materials, you should have before you an amended motion record.

MR. WETSTON:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  An amended factum, and a book of authorities.  That's what our materials consist of.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Does that take care of the appearances?  Okay, thank you so much.  

Reviewing the materials, Mr. Millar had an opportunity to speak to counsel prior to coming today, I believe, either briefly or otherwise.  It would seem to me that in this matter we have gone from a formula Q to a constitutional challenge, which obviously is of some significance.  

The preliminary questions were addressed to the parties, in part, because of the - I will use this word and you will take it in the context of what I am getting at - somewhat uniqueness of this particular proceeding.  The uniqueness obviously flows from the circumstances under which we have proceeded to deal with the matters associated with the special purpose charge, since that matter has become law. 

In reviewing obviously the materials, which we appreciate receiving, with respect to the questions, it would appear to me that what we need to address today by way of preliminary matters are three matters, the first one being whether or not this Board should go directly to hearing constitutional issues and/or whether or not this Board should exercise its authority and state a case to the Divisional Court. 

Well, I have been here for seven years and I haven't stated a case yet to the Divisional Court, so that might be something to obviously consider, but we obviously need to have some argument on that issue.  And in reviewing the materials, the way I see it, in a nutshell, is some parties do suggest very strongly that we hear it, other parties suggest that we state a case, and other parties suggest that we do a combination.

And so I think counsel are being creative when they suggest we do a combination, but I guess that's also possible.  So we should hear argument on that issue.  I would think that's the first issue, and if you don't think that's the first issue, let me.  But I think that should be the first issue. 

I don't think there is any issue here amongst all the parties with respect to the constitutional authority for this Board to be able to hear the issues.  I never doubted that there was, but we now have a lot of materials from you on the constitutional question, so that should save some time.

Secondly, the second issue, I think, is the issue of the stay.  Some parties have advanced the issue of the stay quite significantly in their materials and their arguments, and I think we need to discuss the issue of a stay.  And obviously the 31st of July is around the corner, and so I think that should be the second issue that we hear argument on. 

And flowing from that, some parties have made a request for costs, and we should hear some argument on costs.  And that would be I think the third issue that we should hear argument on today.

I don't believe there are any other significant issues that we need or require argument with respect to on this matter today.  Mr. Warren, as the moving party, do you have any issues with that?

MR. WARREN:  There is an issue with respect to the status of the Consumers Council of Canada.  It's our position that they should be a party.  The Ministry of Attorney General takes the position that they should not, but should be an intervenor.  

I don't propose to make submissions at great length of the issue, but that is a collateral issue which I would like an opportunity to address at some point.

MR. WETSTON:  Ms. Minor, are you taking a position on that?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.  In our view, the individual is an appropriate party and the Board has jurisdiction, but the Consumers Council, in our view, should be an intervenor, and we would consent to that.  And I frankly don't think it would make a huge amount of difference in terms of the argument.  It is just a matter of being technically correct. 

MR. WETSTON:  So you want to take -- we don't need to do that now.  Would you like to do that as the fourth issue, then?

MR. WARREN:  I am happy to do it as the fourth issue, sir. 

MR. WETSTON:  So in case I forget, you will remind me, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  I will indeed, sir. 

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Thank you so much.

So with respect to -- anybody else have any matters with respect to the issues as I have outlined them? Nothing?  Okay.  So, how would you like to proceed with the issue of the stated case versus that of the Board hearing the matter versus the combination?  Would you like to begin, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  I am happy to begin, Mr. Chairman.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.
SUBMISSIONS ON STATING THE CASE:

Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  And in this context, if you could turn up our book of authorities, at tab 12 I am referring to the case of the Ontario Court of Appeal in the case of the City of Ottawa versus the Attorney General of Ontario.

MR. WETSTON:  I'll need a second.  That is the joint book.

MR. WARREN:  It is the joint book, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  What tab?

MR. WARREN:  Tab 12, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  City of Ottawa?

MR. WARREN:  Briefly stated, Mr. Chairman, our position is that the Board should proceed to hear the constitutional question in its entirety.  The burden of the analysis of the Court of Appeal in the City of Ottawa case is that the -- if there are facts in -- if they are contested facts, then those facts should be heard and resolved by the regulatory agency, and in the case of that case the Energy Board, so that there are -- there is a decision on what the relevant facts are before it goes to the Divisional Court.

We have not seen material from the Attorney General, for entirely legitimate reasons.  I am not certain what the Ministry's position will be on the substantive issue on what makes the special purpose fund a regulatory charge, but I'm reasonably confident that there will be differences on the facts, and for that reason and relying on the authority of the Court of Appeal in the City of Ottawa case, we think it is required that the issue be heard first by you.  We also think that that makes the most sense in terms of efficiency that will be had. 

So those are my submissions on the issue, Mr. Chairman. 

MR. WETSTON:  Let me just ask you a question, Mr. Warren, just to save some time.  Regardless of whether we state a case or not, we are going to have to develop a record for the court.  So those facts will have to be determined regardless.  Do you agree with that?

MR. WARREN:  I agree with that, sir. 

MR. WETSTON:  Does everybody agree with that?  I don't think we need to have a lot of argument on that issue.

Everybody agree?  Nodding heads would help.  But I think it's --

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  I really appreciate that.  We have one yes. 

Let me ask you a question, Mr. Warren, and other parties can hear this and if they have something to suggest about it, because I don't think -- the issue will really resolve itself around other matters, that is the, I think what I would say the preferred approach to deal with this kind of issue.

Do you view the fact that the facts and the elicitation of the facts and the development of them would be any different, whether or not it's by way of our hearing the constitutional issue at the Board versus developing the facts and stating the case to the court?  Do you think there is any difference there?

MR. WARREN:  Substantively, no. 

MR. WETSTON:  Anybody have any comments on that?

I'll get to you a second, Ms. Minor, because I think you obviously are taking the position that the Board should hear the matter and not state a case, as I understand.  

Any views, Mr. Vegh, Mr. Thompson, on whether or not the record developed will be any different whether we hear it hear or refer it? 

MR. THOMPSON:  I agree with Mr. Warren.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  I agree as well. 

MR. WETSTON:  Do you have any thoughts, Ms. Minor?  Any difference?

MS. MINOR:  It doesn't have to be different, no.  Our argument, however, would be that it would be appropriate for the Board to be informed by the legal test and legal concerns that have to be addressed in the constitutional matter when it's making a finding of fact.  And so, again, I agree with Mr. Warren that it would be most efficient and effective to have the whole thing determined at once.

I don't know if you want a submission on that or whether you want to come back to that. 

MR. WETSTON:  I just want to get some agreement as to whether or not there is any difference.  The issue of whether we state it or not is a different question.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.  Okay.

MR. WETSTON:  I recognize that there is constitutional support for the way in which you weigh the facts in the context of whether we decide it.  Obviously we can't declare it unconstitutional.  We can only make a finding of unconstitutionality versus that of what the courts can do, so that's helpful. 

I realize that we are being a little bit casual here about how we are approaching this issue, but I don't see that there a great difference between the parties on it. 

Let me ask you this, then.  What procedure would you suggest or recommend for that part?  I will obviously get to the point of asking for whether or not the basis upon which parties think a stated case is preferable; we will get to that point.

But I simply want to -- let's address the procedure. What are we thinking of here from the point of view of the procedure to elicit the facts?  Are you thinking of affidavit evidence?

MR. WARREN:  I am thinking -- I had thought that the most efficient way to do this was for the Ministry of the Attorney General to file affidavit material.  It's possible - I think unlikely, but it's possible - that there may be no be no need to cross-examine on the material, but we need to know what the position is.  If there needs to be cross-examination, then we can do it in one of the two established ways, either before the Board or a special examiner.

But that seems to me to be the most efficient way to do it, because once we see material, affidavit from the Ministry of the Attorney General, we really have a sense of the extent to which we're fighting about the facts or not fighting about the facts.

So that's what I had in mind, Mr. Chairman.

MR. WETSTON:  Ms. Minor?

MS. MINOR:  We are content to do it that way.  I think it would be helpful to have the position in writing for the Board one way or another.  What may be desirable - and we would be in the hands of the Board, of course - is that if we file affidavit material, the Board itself may have some questions about it and want the witness there, so we would certainly be prepared to produce a live witness in addition.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Any comments on the approach?

Mr. Thompson, do you have anything?  Done any stated cases recently, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I was on the Ottawa one that Mr. Warren cited, but that's the --

MR. WETSTON:  I am glad we have an expert here, then. 

MR. THOMPSON:  My partner had to take it.  I think I was otherwise preoccupied.  It's probably why we won.  

Yes, I agree with both Mr. Warren and counsel for Ontario.  As far as I know, it's only the Ministry that wishes to adduce evidence.  I haven't really put my mind to whether there might be some reply evidence, but certainly a good starting point would be to get something in writing and then best decide where we go from there.  

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Vegh?

MR. VEGH:  I agree with that.  

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Any other comments?  No


MS. DeMARCO:  No, I agree with that process, subject to Mr. Thompson's comment regarding assessing whether or not there is a need for reply evidence at that time. 

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Warren, do you intend to file any evidence?

MR. WARREN:  Not beyond what we have already filed, Mr. Chairman. 

MR. WETSTON:  So you would be in the same position of Mr. Thompson; if you need to file something by way of reply, you will?

MR. WARREN:  Indeed, I would have to see what's filed by the Ministry of the Attorney General. 

MR. WETSTON:  All right.

Ms. Minor, does that make sense to you?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  Do you want to talk about timing a bit before we get to -- we should talk about timing. 

I want to just present the scenario here.  I don't think at this stage in discussing timing, we have two ways of looking at it.  Mr. Thompson, I know that you are going to and others will speak about the stay regarding the assessments which are around the corner.

I think that we should probably not -- I don't think the timing will allow this to occur within the next two weeks.  Now, it may be the case that we can do this in the next two weeks.  I will leave that to you, Ms. Minor, to address, but it seems to me that we need to set that aside for a moment and deal with that issue separately, and deal with the process by which we get the affidavit evidence around the constitutional issue.  Would that make sense to everybody?  Okay.

Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

What -- I am sorry, Ms. Minor.  Go ahead, if you need to talk to your colleague. 

MS. MINOR:  No, that's okay. 

MR. WETSTON:  What's your sense of timing, then?

MS. MINOR:  Frankly, a few months.  

MR. WETSTON:  There goes the 31st. 

MS. MINOR:  Yes, it certainly does.  I think that, you know, unless there is some other concern, we would be looking at October. 

MR. WETSTON:  Comments?  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  This invariably bleeds into the stay issue, Mr. Chairman, but I have to say that I am really in the hands of the Ministry of the Attorney General.  If they need that amount of time, they need that amount of time, and I am not going to be exercised about it one way or the other.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  I agree with Mr. Warren.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Vegh.

MR. VEGH:  I agree with Mr. Warren.

MR. WETSTON:  Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  I agree with Mr. Warren.

MR. WETSTON:  What are we doing here?  We could have done this whole proceeding by e-mail.

MR. WARREN:  No, it's sweet music to my ears, Mr. Chairman.  I agree with Mr. Thompson.  We can keep it up all day and night.

MR. WETSTON:  I guess you're not used to that.

MR. WARREN:  No, I am not.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, you are saying October and I am not hearing any separating this issue from the stay completely, obviously, or the issue on the stay, but I think if you need that time, and the parties seem to be agreeable to that, I am not going to suggest a date in October at this stage.  We will determine the date in October, if that's acceptable to the parties.  We will look at our schedule, but you are going to get the material.  It doesn't necessarily mean the hearing will be in October.

MS. MINOR:  No.  I am assuming that it wouldn't be in October, that we would get the material to Mr. Warren and the hearing would follow after that, because the parties would want some time to review the material and decide whether to cross-examine or whether -- if the Board wishes, it may be that any cross-examination should be before the Board.  It would be more effective that way, but people will not know, I think, how much time is required until they have a look at it.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Millar, any comments?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  I just wanted some clarification on whether or not October was the date proposed for the hearing or for the evidence, but I am hearing now it's for the filing of evidence.  So I don't have any questions about that.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  I think we understand where we are going with that.  Is there any other material that needs to be filed with the evidence of the Attorney General?

MR. WARREN:  Not that I am aware of, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  So I think that's probably all we need.  We have all agreed that I believe that that material will be necessary for the hearing on the constitutional issues here at the OEB and/or a stated case to the Divisional Court or some combination.  Did I say that correctly?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think so.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  With respect to the issue, then, as between -- we have heard argument a bit from Mr. Warren on why it is that the Board should hear the constitutional case.  Do you have any further comments on that?

MR. WARREN:  I have no -- 

MR. WETSTON:  Let's move to that issue.  Just to sort of have some order here, Ms. Minor, do you want to go last on that issue?  

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  We will hear from all the other parties, and then if there are any issues with respect to that, we will take that approach.  Mr. Thompson, can we begin with you, since you have a front-row seat?
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will be very brief, Mr. Chairman.  We addressed our rationale for the preference that the Board hear this in our written factum, and we submit that -- while we identify options, we submit that a Board decision on the merits of the constitutional question is the best process option to follow.  

We derive that from a number of sources, but one of the sources on which we rely for making that submission is the Conway case that's cited by Mr. Warren in his material and also by Ontario in their material.  That's a recent decision of the Supreme Court of Canada where the duty and obligation of the Board to consider constitutional questions is emphasized.

And so I submit before you would refrain from exercising that duty, there should be some good reason to refrain, and we submit we can see no good reason for the Board to forego the opportunity to discharge that obligation. 

We submit that the Board is as competent as the court to decide the issue, and we submit the court would benefit from having the Board's views on both the facts and the constitutional question.  It's the process option that, in our view, leads to an early determination of the constitutional question.  It's the most efficient.  

So we find ourselves being, in large measure, in agreement with Ontario on this point.  Those are my submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  I took a look at Conway last night when you sent in your note, and it's obviously referred to in the materials by Ontario, but I think your major emphasis on this is with respect to the stay, as I see it, as opposed to whether or not, as I understand it -- I may be incorrect there, but I thought that you were pursuing it, but we can get to that issue on the second point.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it relates to the stay, but, as well, I just recited it because it does emphasize the positive duty on this Board.  And staying is, in effect, refraining from exercising -- sorry, stating a case for the opinion of the court is, in effect, saying, We don't want to do it.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Vegh.

Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  Union's position is in favour of a stated case, and I think we may be the outlier on this point, so I would like to present some submissions for your consideration. 

Obviously, when we start on considering this question, the Board has discretion to state a case or to hear the proceeding, and really its discretion is exercised by reference to the circumstances of each case.  I don't think there is a set of binding rules that apply here.  And the circumstances in this case weigh in favour of a stated case, in Union's submission. 

And I will get to those substantive points, but to just respond to Mr. Thompson's point, I believe that you are meeting the Board's duty and obligation to address the constitutionality by stating a case.  That's not avoiding the issue.  That's just finding a managed and reasonable way to deal with the constitutional issue.  

It's not that you are not addressing it.  The Board is addressing it by seeking the direction of the Divisional Court, and the stated-case power exists for that reason.  So it's not avoiding the issue it's just looking at the best way to deal with that issue. 

And, in my submission, the reason why a stated case is appropriate here is for two major reasons.  The first is the nature of the legal issue at stake.  It's a constitutional issue.  The second is the nature of the Board's power or exercise of authority that's being reviewed; that is, making the assessments.

So if I could turn first to the nature of the issue, this is a constitutional issue.  It's a quintessential legal issue.  It's a type of issue that in our system of governance is made ultimately by courts and assigned to courts.  It's a legal issue, and the courts ultimately will determine the constitutionality of this legislation.  

And the fact that constitutional issues are determined by courts explains why the courts have shown little deference for the decisions of tribunals on constitutional issues.  They do that not as a critique of tribunals or being dismissive of them, but it is a recognition that tribunals exercise a policy function, as well as an adjudicative function, and the policy functions do not really engage or inform the constitutional issues ultimately determined by courts. 

So I think that because this is a pure constitutional issue, it is an appropriate one for a stated case. 

I also want to address, turning to my second point now, the nature of the Board's power that is being reviewed here; that is, the power to make the assessment and whether the assessment-making power is constitutional, because when we look at the power of making an assessment, again, the Board is not exercising its policy expertise or its industry expertise.  It's simply implementing a regulation.  It's acting as a tax collector, not as a policy body, not as a true regulator of the sector.

MR. WETSTON:  Be kind, Mr. Vegh.  Be kind.

MR. VEGH:  Well, I make this point to distinguish the types of cases where the Board is looking at legal issues, even constitutional issues, by reference to its policy mandate.

MR. WETSTON:  Now you are being more kind, so I appreciate that.

MR. VEGH:  I am getting there.  I am trying to build up towards that, sir.  So if you are looking at jurisdiction over a pipeline, then the Board is testing the boundaries of its statutory mandate, and that's what -- when the courts say they want to hear from tribunals on jurisdiction, that's what they want to understand, the boundaries of the statutory mandate and how the Board sees those boundaries.  

In this case, we are not engaging the boundaries of a statutory mandate.  It's a simple application of a direction in a regulation.  

And just for your reference, the boundaries of statutory mandate, that comes from the Matsqui Indian band case.  I won't take you to it; it's at tab K of Union's book of authorities.

 And in that case, you have a discussion of the courts looking at a tribunal's determination on a constitutional issue and the reasons why they don't grant it that much deference.

 Again, the policy-making and industry expertise that the Board has is not really engaged by this case in making the assessment.  And in fact, the court is in as good a position as the Board in looking at the constitutional issue, and because the court is a specialized legal body, it's in a better position, in our submission, than the Board in looking at and determining the legality of the assessments based on the constitutional argument.

 That's the nature of the assessment power, but even more specifically in this case in particular, this application is for the Board to review the exercise of the assessment power and that review of the exercise of the assessment power is made by reference to constitutional principles.  That's an adjudicative function more than a policy function.

 Now, Mr. Warren referred to the City of Ottawa case, which made the point that where there is a stated case, there should either be an agreed statement of facts or a hearing to resolve disputed facts.  And I think that's right and we would agree with that position, and what we'd say on this particular point is that it's premature at this stage to conclude that there are material facts in dispute that either can't be addressed in an agreed statement of fact or cannot be resolved by the Board in a fact-finding adjudication that can then form the record that can be presented to the Divisional Court in a stated case.

 And in terms of the facts of this case, without trying to pre-empt or prejudge the evidence filed by the Attorney General -- we know that that is some months  away -- but it might be helpful to make this discussion a little more concrete by looking at the facts that would be relevant to the consideration of whether or not the assessment is a tax on the one hand or a regulatory charge on the other, and I think that's going to be the real issue before the Board or before the Divisional Court.

 And the characterization of those issues is addressed in the Westbank case, and I would like to refer to that.  It's at Tab J of Union Gas' book of materials.

 MR. WETSTON:  Just give me one second.

 MR. VEGH:  Sure.

 MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

 MR. VEGH:  So if you turn to page 149 of that case, paragraph 24 sets out the considerations that are relevant.

MR. WETSTON:  What page again?

MR. VEGH:  Page 149, tab J, page 149, paragraph 24.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, I seem to have some trouble finding that here.  Westbank?

MS. MINOR:  It's also Tab 19 in the joint book of authorities in the Consumers Council et al., if you have that one.

MR. WETSTON:  The copy I have in here, Mr. Vegh, ends at page 139 –

 MR. VEGH:  The next page –-

 MR. WETSTON:  149?  Oh, so you have left a whole pile out so you wouldn't confuse me.  Thank you.  All right.  Page 149.

 Thank you, Ms. Minor.  I think I have the pages you're referring to.

MR. VEGH:  I am always cautious in appearing before the Board about including too much paper.

MR. WETSTON:  I don't know whether you have succeeded or not, but anyway, go ahead.

MR. VEGH:  Paragraph 24 at page 149, a decision by the Supreme Court of Canada setting out the indicia that distinguishes a regulatory charge from a tax, and so these will kind of create the boundaries of the facts that we are addressing, and if I could just read to you starting the second -– well, I will just read the paragraph:

"It goes without saying that in order for charges to be imposed for regulatory purposes or otherwise be necessarily incidental to a broader regulatory scheme, one must first identify the regulatory scheme.  Certain indicia have been present when this court has found a regulatory scheme.  The factors to consider when identifying a regulatory scheme include the presence of..."

And so these will be the sort of the categories of facts that the Board will be considering in determining whether we have a regulatory scheme.

 So the first one is:  "A complete and detailed code of regulation."  So the facts for the Board to consider is: Well, what is the code in this case?  What does it consist of?  And you won't necessarily be drawing the legal conclusion of whether or not this constitutes a regulatory scheme, but there are facts that are relevant to this first consideration of what is the code.

 The second is -- the second consideration is:  "A specific regulatory purpose which seeks to affect the behaviour of individuals."  So we'd look to evidence of: What is the purpose?  How does it seek to affect the behaviour of individuals?

The third is:  "The actual or properly estimated costs of the regulation."  So, again, there will be facts, presumably, from the Attorney General of what are the costs of the regulation?  What are the costs recovered under the assessment?  How have those costs been estimated?

 And then finally:
"A relationship between the regulation and the person being regulated, where the person being regulated either causes the need for the regulation or benefits from it."

 So again, the evidence that would be relevant and potentially disputed is how persons caused -- which persons caused the need for the regulation, how they benefit from the regulation.

 So these are all areas of fact, not necessarily legal conclusions coming from those facts, and presumably those facts would be addressed by the Attorney General in affidavit evidence.  They could be cross-examined upon.  Other parties may file their own facts on this point.  And then the Board can determine at that time whether or not, in fact, these -- whether it can resolve these facts satisfactorily to present the stated case to the Divisional Court.

 So just to summarize, our submission is that it is a type of case that is appropriate to go to the Divisional Court, because it's a constitutional issue that's not really testing the boundaries of the Board's policy authority.  And it's premature to conclude that there will be material facts in dispute that would prevent it from going to Divisional Court, because we don't know what the facts are, but if we look at the categories of facts that would be considered relevant, we can see how those facts can be put forward by the Attorney General, tested, and then form the basis of a stated case.

 Thank you, sir.  Those are my submissions on this point.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, Mr. Vegh, this is not a Charter case.  This is not a separation-of-powers case.  I asked this question, that looking at the regulatory scheme in whatever way you examine it, I would think you are right; the court would find it quite helpful to have the Board make findings on these kinds of issues.

 I am quite sure that Ms. Minor will be addressing a number of these in her affidavit.

 The question I still have, though, is whether it's testing the boundaries or not, and I don't think anyone would disagree that this is not the kind of exercise of authority that would involve the expression of a great deal of opinion or judgment that we would normally exercise in a typical type of proceeding.

 Nevertheless, it does require the Board to take into account the regulatory scheme and to make some findings with respect to that, which obviously will have some implication for any constitutional issues, whether determined here or in a divisional court.

 What I thought I heard you say at the end was that how you see this -- let me put it another way, Mr. Vegh.  Are you saying we should wait to make that decision until we see the evidence of the Attorney General, see whether there is any agreements or disagreements on the facts and then decide whether there is an issue that would be better managed or handled by the court versus this Board, either for the reasons that you have just articulated or because it would expedite the matter?  I mean I could say that maybe the parties will be so impressed with the reasons of the Board that neither party would want to go to the Divisional Court, but obviously that would be a leap.

 So having said that, I mean is that what you are suggesting?  I gathered that from your last comment, that that may be the more prudent course of action here.

MR. VEGH:  So in terms of our submissions on the preferred approach, our submission is that the preferred approach is a stated case.

 In terms of the next steps, I think your survey of the room made clear at the outset that the next steps are pretty well the same whether it's stated case or whether we go to a full proceeding before the Board.  So in that case, if you decide today that you are not prepared to make a stated case to the court based on the submissions that you heard, I say that at best you determine it's premature to conclude that a stated case is inappropriate.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.

 Who is next?  Not Ms. Minor.  Ms. DeMarco.
Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  APPrO would be supportive of what you deem the combined approach, which I think is closer to Mr. Vegh's position than I had originally thought from his submissions.  And it makes that submission on the basis of two bookends.  

The first is an acknowledgement of the Board's discretion and duty to hear the matter and its unique expertise in understanding and characterizing the charges at issue, certainly both in the nature of determining whether they are in fact pursuant to a regulatory scheme that you know best, that you have the most experience with, that you are best able to characterize, or whether they are more in the nature of attacks, whether that be direct or indirect; and the other bookend being an acknowledgement that the Board does not have the same jurisdiction to grant the ultimate remedy that a court of inherent jurisdiction could, which is to in fact strike down section 26.1. 

So it's on that basis, I think, that the court would be very well served by you acting within your statutory mandate to fully develop a record on the nature of the charges in question, the factors that my friend Mr. Vegh outlined, and also pointing you back to the same reference that he has given you in the Westbank case.

Other factors that you might deem relevant specifically on page 149 in the paragraph that he has outlined, the last sentence reads:
"Nor is this list of factors exhaustive."

So it may very well be that, in your expertise, you may determine other factors to be relevant for the consideration and the ultimate characterization of the pith and substance of the special purpose charge which would ultimately be heard.

So we would be advocating a full consideration on the matter, consistent with Mr. Warren's submission, ultimately with the acknowledgement that it will ultimately go to a court of inherent jurisdiction.

MR. WETSTON:  So what are you saying?  Are you saying something like the scheme of this regulation really flows out the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, and the scheme of that legislation is meant to accomplish certain goals and objectives on the part of the government's overall policy agenda, and that this Board is responsible, in part, for the implementation of that policy independently; and so that through that characterization, you might find other factors which one should consider in determining what one might have to develop factually as a determination of constitutionality? 

Is that what you are saying, or something like that?

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm saying similar.  The Board is in the best position to make that assessment in light of the overall legislative context, all of the energy legislation put together as a whole schema, and then specifically in the context of the enabling legislation.

MR. WETSTON:  Let me ask you this.  So the Board goes through this process, and all the parties are engaged in this and developing the facts, and then coming before the Board.  You are saying that the Board should answer the constitutional question.  Are you saying that?

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly, I think it would be APPrO's preference that the Board spoke to the constitutional question.  It may be deferential to the courts in doing so, but certainly I would fall closer to Mr. Warren's point of view in that regard.

MR. WETSTON:  I am going to ask you one more time.  You either answer the constitutional question or you don't answer the constitutional question.  I don't think the courts limit what a Board can do.  You either answer it or not answer it, but you can't declare.  

So I guess really my point is:  Are you saying we should answer the constitutional question, and then state a case, as well?  Is that what you are saying?

MS. DeMARCO:  That is effectively what we are saying, Mr. Chair.

MR. WETSTON:  Why wouldn't we just let the parties decide to take it to the Divisional Court on their own, if they so decide?  Why would the Board need to state a case in that circumstance?  

I guess really that's my question.  Mr. Vegh is saying don't bother doing that.  Just develop the record and state it.  I am not sure if what you are saying is answer the constitutional question with deference.  We always are obviously deferential to the courts, obviously, whether we are correct or incorrect, but we are deferential.  Nevertheless, why state a case in that situation?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think in light of the remedy that can be granted.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, no, I understand that.  I mean, the court would be the only one that can declare it unconstitutional.  Okay, I think I understand your position.  Thank you so much.  Go ahead.

Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  In fairness, in our factum we didn't state a preference whether it should go to a stated case or not.  We did agree that that would be an option.  However, since you are asking, I would say that, in our view, the nature of the question before the Board in this case is really heavily dependent on how the Board or how whatever the deciding body views the facts.  And in this particular case, what we are talking about is, in our view, how does -- how do the charges that flow from the assessments differ in nature or kind from what the Board does on an almost daily basis when it charges customers or ratepayers across the province different charges for different things?  

Really, I think the bulk of the case is going to be spent in clarifying the facts through the affidavit that apparently is going to come sometime in October, a possible cross-examination on that, the Board determining whether or not the charges that flow from the assessment are the same or different, or to what degree they are the same or different from what the Board does on a daily basis. 

And the actual determination of whether or not the assessments are constitutionally valid I think is sort of the icing on the cake.  Most of the work is going to be done on the factual analysis.  For that reason, I tend to agree that the Board should provide an opinion or a ruling on whether or not it believes, based on what it does on a daily basis versus what it's being asked to do on the assessment -- what it's being asked to do through the assessment, whether or not it's constitutionally valid from its point of view.

Then, as you say, the parties have the option of appealing to Divisional Court.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay, thank you.  I think that's it for others.  Ms. Minor.

Submissions by Ms. Minor:

MS. MINOR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  In our view, it is most appropriate to hear the whole thing at once from both a practical perspective and also from a consideration of what the substantive question is.  

So on a practical perspective, everyone has agreed you are going to be determining the facts, in any event, and from there, then, one party suggests that you should refer it to the Divisional Court for then their legal conclusion.  That would come back to you to apply and grant a remedy one way or another, or not, depending on the conclusion.  

From there, of course, the unsuccessful party can appeal to the Divisional Court, and you are going to be going back to the Divisional Court again.  There is no requirement that another panel be bound by the first panel's assessment.  It no doubt would give it serious consideration, but you are going to -- we would submit there is a good chance you would end up having to have another argument there, and then of course it could go further.  

To me, on a practical basis, it makes more sense to have an initial determination made by the Board, and then let the chips fall.  The parties can appeal one way or another.  It just makes it more efficient, and I suggest more effective from a procedural perspective. 

From the substantive legal perspective, I agree with the last submission.  This case is going to be determined largely on the factual findings.  The legal test is not a difficult one.  And as the parties referred to, it's set out in Westbank.  It's essentially what we could call a Eurig analysis, that being the initial case or one of the leading cases on whether it's regulatory charge or tax.  And as has been submitted, there are criteria, all of which require a decision maker to both look to the legislative scheme - and that's certainly within your expertise - and then to look at the facts and how they connect the particular charges with the purpose of the legislation and who is paying.  

And once you make those findings, you, frankly, are very close to having the determination already made.  So from that perspective, it would seem to us most sensible that you do the whole thing, and then, as I say, let the chips fall. 

So there is nothing that's exclusively legal here as opposed to factual.  It's a mixed finding and heavily factually dependent.  There is nothing that would suggest it's so far from what you would be considering on a day-to-day basis that the Board wouldn't have much to offer.  I think it's completely the opposite in this case.  And it's not so -- it's not so complex legally that it's, again, unlike the kind of matter you would be dealing with.  

So, to me -- to us, it would make most sense for you to hear the whole thing.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  I am glad you think it's not complex.  That's good. 

MS. MINOR:  It's not legally complex.  The facts are what will be determinative here.  

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you so much.

Any comments, then?  Any further submissions?  Mr. Vegh?
Submissions by Mr. Vegh (continued):


MR. VEGH:  If I might, just to -- I almost feel like I am bringing a motion for the stated case, so I'm asking for a bit of reply to -- one point Ms. Minor mentioned that I didn't address in my other submissions was the practicality of going to the Divisional Court for the stated case, the court gives its opinion, not an order, and then the Board applies that.

That's a fair point.  I would just say that that applies every time you have a stated case.  So if you follow that logic, then you would never proceed with a stated case, because ultimately the court makes its -- gives its opinion, the Board applies it, and then you work your way back up.  I would expect that the parties would be able to manage that issue, so if the court makes a decision one way or another, that decision is then applied by the Board.  It's still manageable.  You go to the Divisional Court.  Obviously, the Divisional Court knows that it has ruled on this matter, whether stare decisis compels a single identical ruling or not.  And then you work your way up the chain.  It's obviously not unmanageable.  There is a stated-case process, and every time you use a stated case, you are going to be going through that issue, how to go back up the appellate chain.

So that is not a reason for not stating a case.  I think that's a critique of the stated-case power.

Thank you, sir.  

MR. WETSTON:  Any further comments, Ms. Minor?
Submissions by Ms. Minor (continued):


MS. MINOR:  No, I think just in response to the -- I say no and then I have a sentence.  No, only briefly. 

Yes, it is a critique of the stated-case power, but it may be more effective in some circumstances than others.  And as I say, in our submission here, it's not.  

MR. WETSTON:  You are more or less saying that in the context of a regulatory scheme of this sort, that it would not be more effective to use the stated case versus the Board determining all the issues and then letting the parties decide whether they want to take it to the Divisional Court or not.

Okay.  Thank you very much for those submissions.  I think we can move on to the stay issue.  Can we move right on to that?  Mr. Warren, do you want to begin on that issue?

MR. WARREN:  No, I don't actually.  Mr. Thompson --

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, do you want to begin on that issue?
SUBMISSIONS ON STAY

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, I am happy to deal with that at the outset.

You will need -- to comprehend my submissions here on this point, you will need to have a copy of our factum in front of you.  That was submitted on June the 9th, and it's really paragraphs 24 to 27 where we deal with this topic.  We also address it in the response to question 3, which you will find in paragraph 28, subparagraph (3) of our factum.  You will also need to have your finger on the argument of Ontario to comprehend my submissions here, and, as well, our letter that was circulated yesterday, of July the 12th.  

MR. WETSTON:  Just give me one more moment to get the Ontario submission.
Submissions by Ms. Minor:


MS. MINOR:  With permission, might I just interject for a moment to confirm our position is that the matter should not be dealt with today?  So I am not sure whether the argument we are going to hear is why you should deal with it or whether, in fact, Mr. Chair, you have decided you are going to hear the merits.

MR. WETSTON:  Ms. Minor, I gave some thought to that and I think you should hear it.  If you are caught off-guard on this and you need more time or if there is some reason why you can't address this issue either by way of fact or law, I don't want to make this proceeding entirely court-like, Ms. Minor.  I think you had lots of notice of this, and I am not sure whether or not indeed any additional time would be required by you to address this issue.

If you feel that's the case, I guess I can hear from you now.  And Mr. Thompson, if you don't mind we could wait for a moment.

MS. MINOR:  I think we need to hear the argument before we know whether we should be providing more material or not.

As you know, we did give sort of a brief summary of what our position would be, and that is that there is a heavy onus on the other side to make the case, so...

MR. WETSTON:  I do think Mr. Thompson is aware of that.  Let's see if we can address that issue and perhaps you can deal with it in your argument.  


Go ahead, sir. 

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I did –

Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, just before Mr. Thompson starts, I would like also like to address the issue of whether the Board should be considering the stay motion.  I could do that after Mr. Thompson's submissions or now.  I just want to gone go on the record that Union has some concerns with this approach as well and would like to make submissions on it.

MR. WETSTON:  Is it because it wasn't raised in the questions?

MR. VEGH:  Because it wasn't raised in the questions, yes. 

MR. WETSTON:  And Mr. Thompson gave notice of this in June.

MR. VEGH:  Well –-


MR. WETSTON:  What are the parties waiting for?

MR. VEGH:  Well, the way we -- the way I see it at least is the Board always has jurisdiction at any time to stay its decision or any matter under its authority on its own motion, and so the Board can do that. 

In terms of making a ruling on whether or not you should stay at the request of a party, to me that is a different category, and so a party would bring a motion, and frankly, if that motion was before the Board, Union might have addressed it.  In Union's submission, we say the Board should consider a stay on its own motion, exercising its own authority, but the issue of the factors that go into a stay, the evidence that goes into a stay aren't addressed.  And the concern is that about -- the concern about the Board making a ruling on whether or not to grant a stay is that that could prejudice a future -- if I could call it -- a real motion for a stay, if one were to come forward.  And so we wouldn't want to be faced with, in effect, a res judicata that you have decided there should be a stay to the prejudice of a party that actually wants to bring a stay motion.

So that's the concern with proceeding in this way.  And if the Board were to leave open and say this is without prejudice to a future stay motion, then that certainly changes things, but we feel a bit caught off-guard if this is the one chance to argue a stay. 

MR. WETSTON:  I understand.  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me start, Mr. Chairman, just by referring you to Union's written submissions on June the 9th in paragraph 27, where Union says:

"Recognizing that this process may take some time, and in order to ensure that the status quo is maintained throughout this process, Union proposes that the Board consider staying the assessments pending the determination of their constitutionality."

So it sound to me like Union may have changed its position somewhat since it submitted its factum. 

MR. WETSTON:  Now, you know what I am hearing here Mr. Thompson?  It has been unusual.  Maybe this whole case is a bit unusual, but he is agreeing with you.  He wants stay; you want a stay.  But he wants to make sure that on the basis of the record before the -- I am speaking for you now, Mr. Vegh.  I do so gingerly.  Is there such a word as "gingerly"?  Don't put it in if there isn't.  Find another word.

In case the Board jumps to the conclusion on the basis of the argument today that there shouldn't be a stay, he would like to have an opportunity to persuade the Board on a full motion record that there should be a stay.  I think that's what you are saying, Mr. Vegh, and that you haven't had that opportunity in the event that this Board becomes precipitous in its views or conclusions.  My language, sir, not your language.

So I think that's what he is saying, Mr. Thompson.  So how do you want to proceed, Mr. Thompson?  Do you want to set this down for another day for a motion on the stay?

MR. THOMPSON:  The only point is that July the 30th, I think, is the date that concerns my client.

MR. WETSTON:  Sure.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so if something could be done between now and July the 30th, I am happy to entertain that.  If something can't be done, then I would like to speak to it now.

MR. WETSTON:  So before we cross this bridge, then, yes, the 30th unfortunately is around the corner.  

Ms. Minor, in the event that we should try and have argument on this matter more fully, are you available between now and then?

MS. MINOR:  Yes. 

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Vegh, are you available?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, are you available?

MR. THOMPSON:  Generally, yes.  I have some commitments, but if I am not available, somebody could be here for CME.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Warren, are you available?

MR. WARREN:  Between now and the 30th, yes, I am.

MR. WETSTON:  So who is bringing the motion?  We are not.  Who is bringing the motion?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, certainly CME requested the stay in its materials, so we would be a party to the motion.  I think Mr. Warren in his material, in paragraph 40, was requesting a stay.  Union was apparently requesting a stay in its materials.

So whether or not it should be one moving party or three, I am in your hands.

MR. WETSTON:  It's more work, I understand that, but what I am hearing is that the case for the stay has not been fully developed.  The parties haven't had an opportunity to fully address the issue.  We want to be fair to the parties.  It is an important issue.  We can see why it is important, so if we need to have another day or morning to hear the argument on the stay, then we can do that before the end of the month.

The question would be:  Are parties willing to do that?  I am prepared to hear argument today.  I am not going to force it, though.  I am prepared to hear it, but I won't force it.  If you are prepared to come back and have this motion heard within the next week or ten days, prior to the end of the month, then I'm prepared to organize ourselves to be able to hear that.

MR. WARREN:  I can tell the Board that I would not be bringing a motion for a stay between now and the 30th.  If it's going to be argued, it would be argued today, as far as I am concerned.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am prepared to do either, argue it today or bring a motion to accommodate the Board.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, sir.  Ms. Minor, your views?

MS. MINOR:  Well, as I said, we are in the Board's hands, but, in our view, it would be more appropriate to have it on a separate day, and I gather that's what Mr. Vegh is requesting.  So we are content to do it that way, of course.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Mr. Vegh?

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Just for clarification, it's not that -- I don't have instructions to bring a motion for a stay.  It is not something we are currently contemplating.  We just don't want to rule out that option by a ruling today on an incomplete record.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  I think we will argument on the matter today, and I understand the concerns of the parties.  And in the event that the Board makes a decision on this matter, it will not close the door on the opportunity to bring a separate motion on the stay.  The usefulness of that is there is no res judicata in administrative law, unless the Supreme Court has ruled otherwise recently that I am unaware of.

We will take that approach.  Is that acceptable to the parties?  Mr. Thompson, is that acceptable to you, sir?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is, Mr. Chairman.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Vegh, I know it's acceptable to you.  You raised it.  Do you have any other comments?

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir, no.

MR. WETSTON:  Ms. Minor, I see you're the last one out here, but I understand your position and I appreciate your comments on that.  Thank you.

Go ahead, Mr. Thompson.

Submissions by Mr. Thompson (continued):


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  To put my submissions on this point in context, there is a bit of a history here that I would like to outline to you.  


First of all, the CME submissions or factum was filed on June the 9th of 2010, as was CCC's factum and the factums of other parties that you have before you, other than Ontario.  And that was some three days before the Conway decision was issued in the Supreme Court of Canada.  


Our argument on this question of stay was presented in the context of the preliminary issues framework that the Board had established in its initial procedural order.  You will recall that there were three questions the Board had there, whether its actions amounted to a decision to be reviewed; there is a question about the authority to cancel the assessments; and there is a question about the authority to consider the constitutional question.

So that was the framework in which we presented our initial submissions on this point.  


Our submissions, as I have indicated, initial submissions in paragraphs 24 to 27, were based primarily on the authority of the Macdonald case that my friend, counsel for Ontario, relies upon in her submissions.  Now, in that case, it's important to appreciate that the subject matter of the laws being challenged were tobacco companies, whereas in this particular case the subject matter, if you will, of the laws being challenged are the actions of the Board itself.  


So on a factual basis, there are some distinctions to be made between the Macdonald case, in my submission, and in this particular case before you.  


Now, the Conway decision was then released on -- by the Supreme Court of Canada, was released on June the 12th, and that decision is found in the joint book of authorities, the Consumers Council of Canada and CME, at tab 13.  There are just two parts of it that I wanted to draw your attention to, and these parts of it have been referred to in the materials before you.  


The first paragraph is paragraph 77, and here the court, after analyzing the Cuddy Chicks trilogy and other cases, concluded in 77, and I am editing this somewhat, but I say:
"These cases confirm that administrative tribunals with the authority to decide questions of law..."

And then moving on:
"... have the corresponding authority — and duty — to consider and apply the Constitution ... when answering ... legal questions."


And then over on paragraph 82, the court characterizes this type of question as a threshold question.  So the Conway decision, in my respectful suggestion, confirmed that this Board had a duty and obligation to consider the legality of what it was being required to do when it received the O.Reg. 66 of 2010.  And my submission is that the Board's duty and obligation to consider the legality of its own actions is a threshold question based on Conway.  


We then move to, in chronological sequence, the submissions of Ontario.  And those submissions are -- now, they are dated after Conway.  They are filed on June the 23rd.  And what the Province of Ontario did in its submission is that it bundled up your first question, which dealt with:  What was it that we did in responding to the regulation, whether it was a decision or not a decision?  They dealt with the question of the authority to cancel assessments, and they dealt with the question of the authority to consider the constitutional validity issues under one topic heading, which they called jurisdiction of the Board.

And so in the argument of Ontario in paragraph 4, you have under the heading -- in their overview position under the heading "Jurisdiction of the Board", they say:
"Ontario agrees that the Board has jurisdiction to determine the constitutional issue of whether the charges imposed constitute valid regulatory charges or unconstitutional taxes." 

And then over in paragraph 11, the Board cites the principle expressed in Conway of the Board's jurisdiction to describe -- to decide questions of law arising under a legislative provision, and it relies on Conway.  So we have an acknowledgement, in my respectful submission, that the duty and obligation spelled out in Conway applies in this case.

 And then in paragraph 12, the Board –- sorry, Ontario confirms the Board's authority to disregard the provisions on constitutional grounds and rule on the claim as if the impugned provision were not in force.  

 We also have in the Ontario submission a statement that Ontario intends to adduce evidence pertaining to the constitutional question.  So in my respectful submission, at that point we now have an acknowledgement that what the Board did in responding to the regulation was not a determination of the constitutional question on its merits.  It was something other than that.

 We have an acknowledgement, in my respectful submission, that the Board has a duty and obligation under Conway to consider on its merits the legality of its own actions before acting, and we have an acknowledgement that there is still further evidence to come dealing with respect to the constitutional validity questions. 

 So what flows from those acknowledgements?  In my respectful submission, what flows from it is that in this particular case where the Board is not looking at the legality of -- not like a court, as in Macdonald, looking at the legality of government-directed actions on third parties, being the tobacco companies, in this case we have a tribunal, a statutory tribunal with authority to determine questions of law and jurisdiction being directed to do something and being asked to determine on its merits the legality of what it has been required by regulation to determine. 

 We have in my -- a situation, a case where principles other than those relating to interlocutory injunctions apply.  Interlocutory injunctions, in my respectful submission, a situation arises where a third party and the government come to the tribunal and the tribunal is not involved in the actions that form the subject matter of the legislation.  In this particular case, that is quite different.  The subject matter of the legality inquiry pertains to the Board's own actions.

 So the analogy that I use is I ask:  What would a court do?  What would a court do if it had been directed to impose assessments on electricity distributors of amounts determined by regulation?

 And my respectful submission is based on Conway.  The court would say:  Well, there is a threshold question of legality here, and our obligations, we have a duty and obligation under Conway to consider that threshold question.

 The analogy of interlocutory injunctions doesn't apply.  Since it was conceded that there was no consideration of the constitutional validity question on its merits, then there has been no discharge, in my respectful submission, of the threshold duty and obligation to consider the legality point.  And this is a unique situation, and in my submission, and this then brings me to my letter, based on these acknowledgements and the uniqueness of this situation, what we really have is a situation where setting aside the assessments is necessary to respect the principle of the duty and obligation to consider threshold legal requirements before acting.  

 So the points that we make in the letter, if I could just paraphrase them for you, is that based on the acknowledgements and on Conway, we submit that the Board's duty and obligation to determine on its merits the constitutional validity of Section 26(1) of the OEB Act and the provisions of O.Reg. 66(10) as it affects its own actions is a threshold legal requirement.  We submit that where a threshold legal requirement pertaining to the issuance of assessments by the tribunal itself, having power to determine questions of law and jurisdiction, has not been met, the assessments must be set aside.  And as a corollary of that, we submit that the Board cannot in an exercise of discretion temporarily disregard threshold legal obligations.

 We submit that these must be determined before the Board acts and not afterwards.  And it's in that context, therefore, that we submit that the assessments must be set aside.  And that relief, in my submission, would follow even if you should decide to refer this matter to the Divisional Court for an opinion on the constitutional questions.

 Let me just say that if I am wrong and that this still is some sort of discretionary exercise, I submit that the fact that in this particular case the tribunal being directed by the legislation to do something did not consider on its merits the legality of what it was being directed to do should weigh heavily in favour of an order setting aside or staying the assessments, pending the determination of these constitutional issues on their merits.

 Those are my submissions. 

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, you have no issue around the fact that the Board has or has not the authority to stay?  Do you have any issue with respect to that? 

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, sir? 

MR. WETSTON:  Do you have any comments to make on whether the Board has any authority to stay the assessments in the way that you describe, regardless of your threshold argument on Conway?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, I say under Section 19, and I thought this was -- 

MR. WETSTON:  You think that's clear, that that authority exists?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I do.  I submit it flows from Conway.  It flows from Section 19 for starters, and I thought it flowed from the submission of the Attorney General that I read to you.  

 MR. WETSTON:  Just let me ask you one quick question before we move on.  When you look at Conway -- and as I said earlier, I think I looked at it last evening; it's a recent decision of the Supreme Court -- of course it deals with the Charter matter and it deals with an issue of a not-guilty-by-reason-of-insanity plea by an individual, recognizing that all these cases turn on different facts and different issues and one has to be a little careful to pull paragraphs out of a decision and try to apply it in the context of what we are dealing with here.  We all recognize that. 

 But in paragraph 81 of Conway, the court talks about remedies and it talks about the tribunal can grant Charter remedies generally.  Now, what do you think the court is talking about there when they are talking about Charter remedies?  I mean it's very clear in this case we don't have a remedy.  I mean on the stay, you might consider a stay being a remedy, but on the broader question, we can only assess whether or not constitutionally -- whether it's constitutionally valid or not, but we have no remedy flowing from that.  We can't declare, we can't strike it down.  We've done that before.  It's kind of an interesting experience.  Having said that, what do you think it's getting at there?  What's the remedy?

 It seems to me the threshold issue here is around remedy, but that's my reading of 81.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess I can't quarrel with your analysis on that point.  But let me come at it, try and come at it this way in the context of this particular case.  

 In my submission, what we have is a situation where you have this acknowledged duty to consider legality.  And where the issue of legality pertains to the Board's own actions, it's my submission that the Board has to consider that issue on its merits.  It doesn't stand by and do something and wait for people to challenge what it has done.  That's the way I read the principles in this case, and you may not read them the same way.

So the remedy is doing what -- is making an order now that restores the situation to what it should have been had this been done properly in the first place.  That, in my submission, falls within your authority under the act to make interim orders.

Whether you call it a stay or a setting aside, I think that all falls within the ambit of your authority.  And, for the reasons I have outlined, it's an order that should be made, I suggest, as a matter of law, but certainly as a matter of discretion.  I hope I am being responsive to your question.

MR. WETSTON:  Thanks, Mr. Thompson.  Just one follow-up, and then we'll take a break, because I am sure you are in need of a rest.  I guess my question is, doing the right thing in the first place means doing nothing, is what you are suggesting in this context, because the whole thrust of your argument is it's unconstitutional.  So all that we could do is nothing as opposed to taking some step which would in any way be legal.  

There is nothing that we could do.  Perhaps there is some suggestion that we have a hearing of that sort, and maybe that's a legal step, because of section 78.  Is that what you are getting at?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, not really, Mr. Chairman.  The Board has authority under its Act to take actions of its own motion, and my submission is, in this particular case, where what was presented, as Mr. Warren in his material says, on its face raises a question of validity, constitutional validity, the Board should have considered that and directed that it be dealt with on its merits.

And so whether the Board instituted the process -- I think it probably should have, but if it didn't and someone else comes in and says this question on its face needs to be determined, then I submit the situation should be the same as if you had instituted it on your own motion.

And if you had instituted it on your own motion, in my submission, I don't believe you would have decided the question even temporarily.

MR. WETSTON:  I understand your argument now.  I was taking your comments in the context of what you do when the regulation is enacted and the Board is expected to do something, but you well beyond that.  You are really responding to the situation when the moving party brings the motion challenging the role of the Board and the constitutionality of the regulation or the legislation?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am, and by analogy to what would have happened had you raised it on your own motion.

MR. WETSTON:  I understand.  Thank you so much.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  We will take a break, 20 minutes.  Quarter after 11:00, is that satisfactory?

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, you have completed your argument on this point?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I have. 

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Vegh?
Submissions by Mr. Vegh (continued):


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir. 

So I want to address the stay issue on a more tentative basis, but I also will address not Mr. Thompson's theory of the basis of the stay, but the more conventional approach of considering the test for interlocutory stay under RJR-Macdonald.  That's how this matter is addressed in the Attorney General's factum and that's how I understand Ms. Minor will be addressing this issue, so I would like to address it from that perspective and provide submissions in support of a stay.

So I think the place to start is with the RJR-Macdonald case, which sets out the test, and that's in the Consumers Council of Canada book of authorities, tab 16.  If you have that, I am going to turn to page 16, which sets out what the test is.  I am sure is familiar to you, but just to organize my submissions a bit.

The test is set out at the middle of page 16 at paragraph 35, number 4.  It says:

"The tests for granting a stay are met in this case."

And it lists what the test is.  Number 1, there is a serious constitutional issue to be determined, and number 2, compliance with a new regulation will cause irreparable harm, and number 3, the balance of convenience, taking into account the public interest, favours retaining the status quo until the court has disposed of the legal issues.

So I would like to go through each one of these components.

The first is whether there is a serious constitutional issue to be determined.  I would like to just emphasize what the test is, to what the standard is for a serious constitutional issue, and that's addressed on page 19 of the Supreme Court of Canada's decision. 

Starting at paragraph 49, the question -- I am reading from the decision -- it says:

"What then are the indicators of 'a serious question to be tried'?  There are no specific requirements which must be met to satisfy the test.  The threshold is a low one."

And the reference to a low threshold is repeated throughout the case law, and unpacked a bit in the next paragraph.  The next paragraph says -- describes the test as:

"To satisfy that the application is neither vexatious nor frivolous."

So the test here is a low one.  The reason I emphasize that is the issue is whether this levy is an indirect tax.  There is no question, I think, in this case that it's indirect in the sense that the tax is passed on to consumers.  I think that's the nature on the structure of the act.  The question is whether this is a regulatory charge.  We obviously don't have the case law or the evidence to go through today to build up the prima facie case for this being a regulatory charge or whether this is a regulatory charge.  But my submission is that that shouldn't be used.  I think there is enough in the materials already to indicate that there is a tax here, and the claim being made by CCC is not vexatious or frivolous.  Obviously, a fuller submission on that point would require more case law than we have in front of us today. 

So it is a low standard. 

And then the next test, the next part of the threshold is whether there is a serious -- whether compliance will cause irreparable harm.  And the scenario we have to play out, then, here is, if on July 31st the LDCs who are assessed with this charge are required to write a cheque to the Ministry, do they face irreparable harm if the law is then held to be unconstitutional ultimately by a court?  And I think they will face irreparable harm, because once they write that cheque, it's gone.  The money's gone.  They paid it to the government.

The question is then:  Can they recover those costs from the customers?  And it's not entirely clear that they can.

This Board is obviously familiar with what happened in the Garland case.  In Garland, the utilities charged their customers an amount which was later proven to be an unconstitutional charge.  It was unconstitutional because of a conflict with federal legislation, but the same principle.  And the court in that case said that the utilities from the day that they were aware that there was a potential constitutional issue with that charge, from the day that they were served with the statement of claim, they took the risk that these charges were unconstitutional.  And so the court ordered a refund of all amounts collected from customers.

So the fact that it's true that the utilities can collect the charge from the customers, there is a potential, a potential with precedent, of a class action suit against the utilities to recover those amounts.  So there is a serious risk of irreparable harm.  The utilities pay the government the amounts owing, and then the utilities -- it's true they pass it off to the customers, but they are exposed to a risk of a class action judgment.  And it's not a theoretical risk.  We have seen that happen in this environment; an amount collected from customers struck down as unconstitutional, class action suit, and requirement to repay customers.

MR. WETSTON:  Was Garland a constitutional case?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  I thought it was a criminal case.  It was just a criminal case.

MR. VEGH:  But the defence in Garland was that Enbridge had relied upon an order of the Board, and the court held that there was a paramountcy issue, and that order was unconstitutional because it was inconsistent with the federal criminal power.

So it was ultimately resolved on a constitutional basis.

MR. WETSTON:  I don't remember that part of the decision.  I remember many other parts of it, but not that part.

MR. VEGH:  If I had the case –-

MR. WETSTON:  I thought they just violated a criminal provision of the code.  Simple.

MR. VEGH:  There was a finding that the order of the Board that authorized the collection was ultra vires the province.

MR. WETSTON:  I see.

MR. VEGH:  Because it conflicted with a federal criminal power.  I would be happy to follow this up with sending the case.

MR. WETSTON:  No, you have just brought this -- we have been dealing with other issues in Garland, obviously, mostly around deferral accounts and other such things, but it's just been a long time since I have read the decision from a constitutional perspective.

I think the way that was managed was deferral accounts, wasn't it?  Didn't the Board set up deferral accounts?

MR. VEGH:  The Board ultimately allowed recovery of costs from customers.

MR. WETSTON:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  There is no sure bet that that's going to happen.  And that obviously goes to -- I am going to come back to that point in the balance of convenience, but the point about exposure to irreparable harm is the point I want to make here, that the utilities do face a potential of irreparable harm because they write the cheque to the government.  The fact they are passing it on to customers is not a guaranteed recovery of that amount, because customers may bring a class action suit.  We have to play out the scenario here --

MR. WETSTON:  You are also saying -- and I may as well just ask you the question, that in the event that it's upheld as unconstitutional, you don't think that the government will return the money?  That's your basic premise?

MR. VEGH:  There have been –-

MR. WETSTON:  This is not a situation in which the party is fleeing the jurisdiction, or that somehow or another this party -- this money cannot be recovered from the party by one way or another.  It's not that situation at all.

So we are not looking at the inability, as normally you would look at in irreparable-harm situations where the money can't be recovered in some way or another by damages, which is obviously what the courts reflect on a great deal.  And so if it's not recoverable in some way or another, by damages or otherwise, normally, normally the courts will not consider irreparable harm to exist, and then you are just going to have to live with the fact that the tripartite test has not been met.

So I am just asking you the question simply that you don't believe that ratepayers in this province somehow or another would be made whole by the Government of Ontario in the event, because the money is paid to Finance, as I understand it –-

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  -- in that circumstance.  So that the only relief that the ratepayers in this province would have should that occur would be an action against the government or a class action suit against the government.

MR. VEGH:  No, what we are doing is we're playing out the scenario where the charges are paid, the law is struck down two or three years from now, and the question is:  What do you do with the money that's been paid already?

MR. WETSTON:  Been collected, yes.

MR. VEGH:  If there is a class action suit by the customers, it wouldn't be against the government.  It would be against the utilities, because the utilities collected the charges from them, and that's how Garland played out, right?  So the recovery was from the utilities.  So the utilities face the exposure of paying that back to customers, and then their question is:  Can they get recovery from the government in the amounts that they -- reflecting the cost that they paid out in these charges.  Now, it's true the government is not going to flee the jurisdiction, but it's not unprecedented for legislatures to expropriate amounts paid under taxes that were later held to be unconstitutional, because the legislature has that authority and it's happened on a few occasions.

So whenever you pay your cheque to the government, you have some risk of non-recovery, not because the government is going to do anything untoward or leave the jurisdiction, but because the governments have power with the legislature to change the law.  So that's the one point. 

The second point is that even if you ultimately get recovery from the government -- so if an LDC gets recovery from the government of the amounts paid, that recovery is at the Courts of Justice Act interest rate, which I believe is less than 1 percent.  So what you'd have is, two, three years from now, if you did get recovery from the government and they did not pass legislation to bar recovery, then you would have 1 percent interest on the millions of dollars paid in assessments.

MR. WETSTON:  Sounds like a ten-year government bond to me.  I was just being a bit facetious, George.

MR. VEGH:  But that's an example of irreparable harm.

MR. WETSTON:  All right.  Let me ask you a question about this issue once again.  You don't see a difference here?  I mean, you are talking about a class action suit against utilities because -- the precedent you're using in Garland, but Garland is a very different case than this.  

The government had no role in Garland.  What was the role of the government in Garland.  The Board's role in Garland, we understand what its role was, but the government itself had no role in Garland.  What role did the government have in the Garland decision?

The class action suit was properly brought against the utility.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  I don't understand.  If you could clarify why you think in the case the class action suit would be brought against the utilities?  Can you bring a class action suit against the government?

MR. VEGH:  There wouldn't be a class action suit against the government.  You have to bring the class action suit against the person to whom you paid the money, and that would be utilities, not the government.  This would be Garland playing itself out.

The utilities charge the customers.  The charge is later found again unconstitutional, as it was in Garland.  The customers sue utilities to get their money back, and then the question is the utilities look to recover those costs from someone, from the government or coming back to the Board seeking recovery from future ratepayers, but that's all uncertainty about that.  You can't certainly conclude that they will get that recovery.  

So it's the risk of irreparable harm that we are talking about.  It's not a theoretical or slight risk.  It's a real one.  And when you go back to the Supreme Court of Canada decision in Garland, when they looked at the question of whether there was unjust enrichment of the utilities, and when did that risk start, the court is quite specific that once Enbridge was put on notice by a statement of claim that its charge was potentially unlawful, Enbridge continued to collect that charge at its risk.


So the utilities here will be faced with the same argument.  They are put on notice today by this motion, by this proceeding, that there is a risk that this charge collected from customers may be struck down as unconstitutional. 

And to just go to the point on whether -- you know, on this 1 percent interest and whether you treat that like a government bond, the fact is there is a -- utilities, in seeking recovery from the government, would be able to seek recovery of the amounts paid at the Courts of Justice Act interest, but not be able to seek recovery for lost profits.  That is not a claim you have against the government, because it's the government. 

So if the government passes an unconstitutional law, there is no claim for lost profit.  So even if you get recovery of the amounts you paid, there is irreparable harm on the profits.  

I can give you -- I can perhaps provide authority or just give you a reference to a case where that has come up in the constitutional context.  It is Super Sam Red Deer Lodge versus Lethbridge, 1990, Alberta judgments, number 1255.  I don't have a copy with me.  If you would like one, I can provide one to counsel later. 

So that's irreparable harm, the prospect of irreparable harm.  And then the third test in the RJR-Macdonald case is a balance of convenience.  Now, it's true there are cases which say that, looking at the balance of convenience, you look at the public interest.  And that's fair, but we consider how the balance of convenience would apply in this case, again playing out the scenario.  

If the law is ultimately held to be constitutional and the utilities are out of pocket, then the prospects that they face are trying to get recovery of the amounts.  And what's interesting, again, when you go back to Garland, the ultimate damages in the class action suit paid to customers was not paid to the customers who made the payments, because irreparable harm goes to:  Can you unscramble the egg?  And I'm making the submission that you can't unscramble the egg.  Once the utilities make the payment to the government, you cannot unscramble that egg.  

So in Garland, for example, even when you had a class action suit against utilities, the Garland plaintiffs who ultimately received recovery were not the people who made the payments.  The court applied the cy-près test measure to require Enbridge to pay money into a fund, and then the fund was used for heating and things of that sort.

So you can't unscramble this Enbridge Gas.  If this is found later to be unconstitutional, you can't recover the money, or even the customers who paid it.  The consumers who actually paid this levy will not be able to recover.  At best, you can do a second best where the utilities are required to pay to some sort of fund.

The reason that's the second best is important for irreparable harm, because it demonstrates that you can't, as I say, unscramble the egg, and that's what happened in Garland.  So that is the harm on both the customer side and the utility side.  

Now look at the balance of convenience on the Attorney General's side.  On the Attorney General's side, this is not a case where a policy is not being able to be implemented because of a finding of unconstitutionality.  And there were those sorts of cases where the court said, Well, we are not going to prevent a policy from being implemented.  

The issue here is not implementation of a policy.  The issue here is only the question of who pays for it.  So if you were to put a stay on the assessments, you are not actually saying that the government can't pursue any sort of conservation programs it wants to during the period.  You are not staying those programs.  You are staying the funding of those programs through assessments. 

So there is no real harm to the public interest.  The question is only who pays.  And so the --

MR. WETSTON:  So you are saying the plethora of other conservation programs that will be pursued through the OPA, through global adjustment mechanisms would be able to be pursued by the power authority, and, to some extent, the OEB in the event that individual applications are made to the OEB for those programs, recently recognized in the implementation or the passage of the conservation code that we have just issued, by way of example, should utilities decide to proceed to the Board for those types of programs.

You are saying nothing really stops the government's policy objectives in its legislation, through the OPA and the OEB, in other ways to pursue conservation programs, even those which have been referenced, for example, in the argument of Ontario?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, I would say that, and I would go further and to say even the government programs themselves that they want to pursue directly, they have been pursuing these programs for years.  They have been pursuing it on the tax base, and they can continue to pursue it on the tax base.  

So the status quo is maintained, in this sense that they can continue to pursue whatever programs they want, have the OPA pursue programs, OEB pursue programs, LDCs pursue programs.  The only thing that is stayed is the ability to fund one subset - that is, the government programs - through this particular assessment.  But, again, no harm to the public interest in the ability to pursue those programs.  

I think when you go through the constitutional cases where the courts have had reluctance to stay the implementation of a legislation pending a constitutional challenge, that's been the concern.  Are we stopping the government from pursuing what it perceives to be the public interest?  And that is not the case here.  So it's just a question of how you pay.  

I wonder if I could just have one second.  I just want to take a look at my notes to see if I have covered my points to see if there is anything else.

MR. WETSTON:  Sure. 

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, I thought I had some proposition in my notes, some authority for the proposition in my notes that the issue of who pays is not -- the issue of who pays does not frustrate the public interest for the constitutionality.  I don't have all of my authorities with me, so I apologize for not presenting that to you today.

MR. WETSTON:  That's all right, but does that go to the issue of convenience, or what does that issue go to?

MR. VEGH:  That goes to balance of convenience.  When you look at, on the one hand, the situation the customers are put into versus, on the other hand, the balance of convenience for the government, it can still pursue its policies.


MR. WETSTON:  So you are saying that the public interest is not adversely affected in the typical way it might be should a government policy not be able to be pursued?  Because I think that the balance of convenience must be thought about in the context of whether or not you are depriving the legislation enacted by elected officials of its full effect, and you are saying that it's not.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  Because this is, what, just one part of it, in the way that we have just discussed?

MR. VEGH:  Yes, and I can give you an example.

There is a case, Harper versus Canada, where our current Prime Minister sued or tried to prevent the enforcement of election finance laws.  And the court said, Well, we are not going to grant a stay, because if we grant a stay, then we are preventing the implementation of government policy.

This does not, again, to summarize -- I think your summary was well put.  This stay will not prevent the implementation of government policy.

MR. WETSTON:  Justice Major disagreed with the majority in that.  I have the decision here.

MR. VEGH:  The Harper case?

MR. WETSTON:  Yes, but in any event, it was a minority, a dissenting decision.

The other question I had for you, though, just before we move on to the argument of other counsel, is I am still -- and obviously will think about it -- but I am still a bit preoccupied with the differences which exist here, and what regulatory tools the Board might have in the event that a stay is not granted, and how that -- what those tools might be to reduce, setting aside the loss-of-profit argument that you just made, which I am familiar with, and the fact that I am not sure whether Canada government bonds only pay 1 per cent, but I am sure they don't pay much more than that.

I would like to ask you what tools the regulator might have, in your view, to reduce the risk.  It's a very different situation; a formula is calculated, we do the Q, the utilities have the formula, they have the number.  It's math.  We recognize there is a forecasting element here and out-of-period revenue consideration, which is why the variance account was put in place.  I think we can all agree with that.  We know the exact amount that is collected.  The utility knows, more or less, the amounts which are collected subject to this variance, which will be then dealt with in the context of a proceeding.

So in that circumstance, is that not a little different than the open-ended issues surrounding, for example, the Garland decision, the class action, how to account for the damages, how to allocate those?  It's a very different circumstance here, recognizing that in considering the stay, one needs to practically also look at what tools the Board may have to address that issue.

Does that not go to balance of convenience in some way or another, just separating the irreparable harm issue for a moment?  Do we have any tools, in your view, to reduce that risk, should we disagree with your position?

MR. VEGH:  I think the tool would be to identify where the risk is, and the risk is that the utilities have paid the amounts to the government.  So a potential mitigating factor, which is less than staying the entire apparatus, would be to allow the utilities to collect the amounts from customers, segregate them in an account somewhere in the utility, but not have to write the cheque.  The stay is really on having to pay the amounts over to Finance.  It's once they pay the amounts over to Finance that they are bearing that financial risk.

So if you are looking for a way to use the Board's regulatory apparatus to set the system up so that it could go and that customers are paying those amounts and you are being the least disruptive, I would submit that the more tailored, surgical approach is to just require the utilities to collect the amounts, hold them in segregated funds, but not require them to write the cheques to the government until the constitutionality is determined.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Any other submissions, Mr. Vegh?

MR. VEGH:  Just one.  This might be a technical point, and it comes out of Mr. Thompson's submissions.  And as I said, I have no submissions on that particular theory for a stay.  But you were asking in the course of his submissions about the Board's remedies, and, you know, where do they come in.  And for this more conventional or interlocutory motion argument, what I'd rely on is simply the Rule 42, which says that any party can ask for a review of a Board decision.  The Board is now conducting this review of the decision, and in requesting a review, the party can ask the Board to stay its decision pending the review.

So it's a more conventional approach, and I am relying on Rule 42.04, which allows the request for the Board to stay a decision pending a review of that decision.

MR. WETSTON:  Any other submissions?

MR. VEGH:  No, thank you.  Those are my submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.

Ms. DeMarco?
Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My submissions are organized into two main points.

The first is in relation to the Board's jurisdiction to impose a stay.  I support the submissions to date that Section 19, Rule 42.01, 42.04 and 44.01(B) allow the Board to provide for a suspension or stay of the assessments in their entirety.

In the alternative, let me respond to your question to Mr. Vegh specifically about the regulatory tools available to you.  And it goes to parts 2 and 3 of the RJR-Macdonald test, specifically irreparable harm.  A potential alternative - and if I might be presumptuous in assuming that the Board is concerned about the dates certain in Section 6 of the regulation, which requires collection on or before July 30th - a potential alternative would be to allow for collection from the utilities, but stay ultimate pass-through to customers pending the determination of the issue.

I speak from the perspective of large-volume customers, albeit gas customers at this point, electricity generators who may have considerable trouble passing through those costs and recovering them.

So in the context of irreparable harm and the balance of convenience, and specifically potential confusion and complexity to the public in the marketplace, it may be that certainly the Board might want to consider that as an alternative approach within its toolbox or quiver of arrows, so to speak.

We would submit that in the absence of a stay, whether it be a full stay pursuant to the jurisdiction that we feel you have or pursuant to the alternative proposed -- that is, not passing through to customers in the short term -- there would be irreparable harm caused.

Certainly this marketplace has seen no shortage of changes.  There is no shortage of confusion around the charges and line items of the bill.  If you were to pursue the mechanism that's being proposed for recovery of the charge, which you have to first impose as a line item, the special purpose charge, and then should the issue be determined that it was unconstitutional, issue a special purpose charge reimbursement fee or reimbursement Benefit.  Very confusing for the public, and quite complex in its administration.

We have to get into interest rates.  We have to get into all the matters that you discussed.  So it's certainly our submission that there may in fact be irreparable harm in matching up those who paid with those who recover.

And then secondly, the balance of convenience would support not imposing these charges on consumers, particularly large- and small-volume consumers in the interim while this matter is being determined, either by the Board itself or through a stated case. Those are our submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you making any submissions?
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Only to say that I support the submissions made in support of a stay, in particular, Mr. Thompson and Ms. DeMarco, and, in particular, the issue that as a ratepayer representative we are concerned about is there is really two relationships here, that you are looking at potentially staying the relationship between the utility and the government in terms of paying a single cheque to the Minister of Finance under section 6 of the regulation versus a payment between ratepayers and the utilities under section 7.

And I think Ms. DeMarco was correct that if you were not convinced that a full stay would be appropriate, then the appropriate lesser of the evils would be to stay the recovery from ratepayers, because that's the one which gets very complex in terms of:  How do you return the money if, at the end of the day, you determine that the whole scheme is unconstitutional?  Whereas if you were to collect -- if you were looking at between the utility and the government, it's a single figure that would potentially go back to the utility.

Those are our submissions.  Thanks.

Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chair, just briefly before my friend begins her submissions, what the Board is about to embark upon is a consideration of constitutionality of the legislation.  If the Board is embarking upon that process and if it takes the decision that it's not going to refer this matter to the Divisional Court, but going to hear and decide it, then the Board has a matter before it and has the authority under subsection 21(7) of its act to make interim orders.

An interim order in these circumstances would, in my respectful submission, be that the assessments not be acted on pending disposition of this.  This is a matter within the Board's discretion in any matter before it, and it's in that context that the Board should consider whether or not it should do that.  Thank you, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  All right.  Thank you very much, Mr. Warren.  Ms. Minor, are you ready?
Submissions by Mr. Vegh (continued):


MR. VEGH:  Sorry.  Not to interrupt, but I did want to make a point just to give Ms. Minor the opportunity to respond.  I said that there was an authority for the proposition that a government doesn't suffer harm if only the means of paying for a service are stayed, and I do -- I found that authority now.

It's the Court of Appeal's decision in the Ontario Home Builders Association, OHBA, versus York Board of Education.  In that case, the Divisional Court had struck down an education development charge and had -- and the Court of Appeal stayed the collection of that charge pending the appeal.  And the court said, and I am quoting:
"School boards have other methods of raising funds for educational purposes."

So this is the authority I was trying to recall earlier in my submissions.  I don't have the -- I can give you the citation, but I don't have the case with me.

MS. MINOR:  Sorry, I shouldn't be talking to the counsel.  I apologize.

MR. WETSTON:  It's all right.  I am used to it.  I am actually more used to turning my back on counsel than counsel turning their back on me, but that's okay.

MS. MINOR:  I apologize.

MR. WETSTON:  What did you need?  Did you need the decision or...

MS. MINOR:  Yes, sir.  I have just asked if he had a copy of the decision, because what he said didn't quite support, in my opinion, the proposition that he did.  So I just wanted to actually see the wording.

MR. VEGH:  Perhaps I can go check out the library, although I would like to hear your submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, I know that we want to make sure that you are not, not able to refer to the appropriate authority, Ms. Minor, in the event you feel it's important in my mind.  Of course neither of you know at this stage what's important in my mind, but you need to have the opportunity to make that argument.

If you want to take a few minutes to find the case, and if that will help in your submissions, we can take a few minutes.  The library is next door.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can try and pull it up on the internet right now.  Sorry for interrupting, but I am trying to get it right now, if you'd like.

MR. WETSTON:  I am in your hands, Ms. Minor.  What would you like to do?  If you want to take a few minutes to look at the case, we can come back in a few minutes.

MS. MINOR:  That would probably be preferable, and then we won't be interrupting the argument.

MR. WETSTON:  Would that be of help to you?

MS. MINOR:  Yes, thank you.  It is almost noon.  I don't think we are going to go into this afternoon, or should we?  I don't think so.  I think we will be able to be concluded by 1:00, at the latest, from what I can tell.  I am just picking a number.

I may be incorrect, but -- so why don't we just take a few minutes, and I would ask counsel not to stray too far, so we can just reconvene.  And see if you can get this case and present principle that you are asserting to Ms. Minor.  Thank you.  Unless you can find it, Mr. Buonaguro, if you have it.

--- Recess taken at 11:56 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 12:32 p.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Are we set to proceed?  Thank you.
Submissions by Ms. Minor (continued):

MS. MINOR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

It is our position that the stay should not be granted.  We submit that the appropriate test for you to consider is the one set out in RJR-Macdonald.  In this particular case, of course, it is not a motion to directly stay legislation, but it is effectively that, because by staying the assessment one would -- or your order would render the legislation inoperative until a court reaches a final conclusion.  So we would argue it has the same effect, and therefore the same substantive test should be applied.

We further submit that the test is not met by those arguing in its favour, and that is because neither the irreparable harm test, nor the balance of the convenience or inconvenience test are met.

We are not going to spend any time on whether or not it is a serious case to be tried.  Obviously, the government is going to put in material, and in our submission we should be successful, but there is currently an issue before you for determination, and so we don't rest on the first part of the test.

However, with respect to the irreparable harm case or circumstance to be considered, the argument is made by those seeking the order that it is not clear whether or not -- in fact, they argue it's unlikely that, if they are successful, that money can be recovered.  I want to point out to you -- because no one has raised it -- the King Street case.  It's 2007, 1 SCR, 3.  And that was a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada which considered whether or not monies which had been purported to have been collected under a regulatory charge, which the court ultimately found was a tax, whether those monies could be returned or whether those having paid them could be compensated.  And the court held -- and changing the law, in fact, from the previous Air Canada approach, which held that usually unconstitutional taxes were not repayable -- the court held that in general they were, subject to some criteria being met.

So that's quite a different circumstance.  I am not conceding that the monies would be recoverable, but I think there is a very strong argument that they would be.  And I don't have the Home Builders' case with me, but we can provide a copy to you.

So it is not at all clear that there would be irreparable harm based on monies having been paid –-

MR. WETSTON:  So this is not in your material?

MS. MINOR:  No, it's not.  As I say, we were not totally prepared to argue the whole case today.  So we can get that for you.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

MS. MINOR:  With respect to the RJR test, it's also -- it's been applied many times, including in the Anglers and Hunters case or it's sometimes called the "spring bear hunt" case.  And I would like to take you to that case first.  And that's at Tab 4 of our materials.

And in my submission, it's particularly important for its consideration of the public interest component of the balance of convenience.  And the case refers to, on page 20 of that decision --

MR. WETSTON:  Page 20?

MS. MINOR:  Yes, page 20 of the Anglers and Hunters case.  This is a Court of Appeal case.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. MINOR:  So in that case, they found that there was irreparable harm created by the potential for a loss of profit to certain resort owners if there was a spring bear hunt cancellation.  And however, notwithstanding that, when the court considered the balance of convenience, it, as I say, went back to the RJR test, and held ultimately -- and it sets out all the criteria on page 20.  I am sure you can read them faster than I can read them to you.  But on page 21, it says:

"The combined effect of these guidelines have been described as creating a very low hurdle for governments and high one for applicants seeking an interim injunction to restrain even briefly the operation of a law enacted by a democratically elected legislature."

And at that point, counsel for the applicants had been unable to point to any case in Ontario where courts had granted interim suspensive relief against a government measure.

I believe there have been a couple of cases where that's happened since, but nonetheless the overwhelming weight of authority does still point in the opposite direction.  And obviously, each case has to be considered on its merits, as the court goes on to say.

So the court also noticed that the applicants seeking the stay had -- didn't demonstrate any public interest benefit from suspending the order.  To my knowledge, there are no reported cases where a court has -- and I don't know of any case reported or not, I should be clear -- but there are no cases where a suspension has been granted in this kind of Eurig case, at the outset where a regulatory charge is being challenged.

On the public interest argument, it's our submission that the collection of this money is in the public interest.

If you look at pages 4 and 5 of our factum, starting at paragraph 9, there is an amount to be recovered by the assessments in the amount of $53,695,310, and this corresponds to the actual cost of two energy conservation and energy renewable energy programs.  So that cost is being used to fund these programs.  There is certainly no guarantee whatsoever that these programs would continue with the government deciding to use taxpayers' money or to impose a new tax on some temporary basis if it can't use a charge.

So to Mr. Vegh's submission, I say that is not at all clear, that there is no need for this money and that the programs would continue.  To the contrary, the whole point of the government deciding to make it a user-pay program, so to speak, was to have the funds support the -- have the funds from the persons using it to support the program.  So that itself, I submit, is in the public interest, and certainly the programs themselves are in the public interest.

The conservation measures are set out in paragraph 9.  There are financial incentives to residential homeowners to carry out certain conservation measures at home, and there are incentives to homeowners who want to have a home energy audit.  And the second one is incentives to businesses for the installation of large commercial solar air and solar water roofs.

So in a time of scarce resources when a government has chosen not to fund a particular program through the general tax base, I submit that it's certainly not open to argument that the program is not in the public interest.

MR. WETSTON:  Excuse me.  You would say that for -- let me just ask you this question.  Conservation is a bit complicated because there are many tools with which to achieve it.  So let me describe five of them, and tell me how you would -- or four of them, at least, because I may forget the fifth.

But if you consider this, for example, HESP, Home Energy Savings Program, as a conservation program in which incentives are available, financial incentives from what I can see - for example, 50 percent of the cost of the audit up to $150 - what you are saying is you are not taking any position, whatsoever - I guess you could not - that that money would otherwise not be available for the government to be able to fund a program like this.

MS. MINOR:  I got confused by your question.  I need to hear it again.

MR. WETSTON:  You are suggesting that as part of the public interest, a program like this needs to be funded, and the government has chosen this tool to fund this program, and it's in the public interest to have this program.  I guess my question is:  There is no alternative money available to fund this program by the government, and you can't comment on that, because you don't know?

MS. MINOR:  The government would have to -- there is no obvious $53 million sitting somewhere waiting to be used, I will put it that way, and it's not at all clear the government would have the program if it has to use the tax base.  That's as far as I can go.

MR. WETSTON:  I'm sure that's as far as you can go, and I understand that.  So that's my first question.

My second question, though, is there is, as you know, a lot of programs being run that ratepayers are paying for, through the global adjustment mechanism, organized and operated or implemented through the Ontario Power Authority where ratepayers are paying for those programs.

Now, they are province wide-programs for the most part.  They are being designed by the Ontario Power Authority, and ratepayers will have the opportunity -- they are paying for them, and the utilities will have the opportunity to take these off-the-shelf programs, if I can put it that way, for the benefit of the ratepayers or for the benefit of the public interest.  So there is another tool there.

And I think what Mr. Vegh was getting at in his argument is there are other ways to do this.  This isn't the only way.  So you would say that somehow or another that doesn't in any way shape your view of the public interest with respect to something which has a serious constitutional question?

MS. MINOR:  Absolutely not, because it would be a rare program that someone couldn't argue there is an alternative to.  I mean, that's what political choice or legislative choice is about, is choosing particular policy instruments in order to effect desired social change.

MR. WETSTON:  Let me just give you part B to that.  I think the government could direct the Ontario Power Authority to put into place a home energy savings program as one of the province-wide programs that would be funded through the global adjustment mechanism.  Could they not do that?

MS. MINOR:  I am not familiar enough with that legislation --

MR. WETSTON:  Assume they could.

MS. MINOR:  Assume they could, yes.

MR. WETSTON:  Would that not be another way of achieving this program, but not using what might be an unconstitutional charge?

MS. MINOR:  But that argument could be made about any challenged program, that there is some other way you could do it.  I mean, that doesn't change the public interest part of it.  That's the same.

MR. WETSTON:  So I am just asking you the same --

MS. MINOR:  That is my same argument, same response.

MR. WETSTON:  So it is going to be a ditto kind of response?

MS. MINOR:  Yes, yes.

MR. WETSTON:  So the other way -- I'm getting a four now -- I don't know what number I'm at.  The other way is somehow or another the utilities could just come separately to the OEB and make an application, as part of their rate applications, to fund a program, which we would review.  In the normal course, that would be called a home energy savings program, whether or not that should be offered and incentives offered to ratepayers in the province, but that would be another alternative.

You would once again say ditto?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  I did have another one, but I can't remember it.  So your view, then, would be that all of these options and alternatives which I presented to you don't in any way affect the government's position with respect to this threshold that you describe regarding the public interest on the balance of convenience?

MS. MINOR:  That's correct.  I thought -- and I don't want to mischaracterize Mr. Vegh's argument, but I am sure he will correct me if I am wrong.  I thought that he was arguing that the Home Builders' interim decision stood for the proposition that, on the RJR-Macdonald criteria, the public interest test -- or it's not in the public interest if it's only money collection.

And having reminded myself of the decision - thank you very much for the time you permitted us to get the decision - it's very much distinguishable.  It doesn't go that far at all and is quite distinguishable.

Have you been provided with a copy of that, too?

MR. WETSTON:  I have the endorsement.

MS. MINOR:  Yes, that is what it is.

MR. WETSTON:  I hope it was worth the time.

MS. MINOR:  That was a decision where the government had lost at first instance in the Divisional Court.  So there was -- first, starting off, there was prima facie case, as the Court of Appeal said, that the charge was unconstitutional.  That's quite different than here.

Here there is -- it's a question to be determined, but there is far from a prima facie case that it is, and, in fact, if you look at the -- I believe it's the McNeil case in our authorities.  Yes, tab 3, page 20.

And this is a decision, again, of the Supreme Court of Canada.  The court can't -- this is about two-thirds down the page.  It starts, "In all such cases":
"In all such cases the court cannot ignore the rule implicit in the proposition stated as early as 1878 by Mr. Justice Strong in Severn v. The Queen... that any question as to the validity of provincial legislation is to be approached on the assumption that it was validly enacted."


And that applies when courts are looking at challenges to legislation based on constitutional -- or based on federalism challenges or similar challenges to this one.  The courts have said that there is not necessarily such a presumption when it's a Charter challenge, depending on what the challenge is.  But that is still valid today.

MR. WETSTON:  That case has a special memory for me, because I was in Nova Scotia at the time.  I think I was in law school or just graduated from law school, and I wanted to see that film.  I think I had to come to Ontario to see it.

MS. MINOR:  So going back to the Home Builders' endorsement, we have far from a prima facie case of unconstitutionality.  We, in fact, have a presumption of constitutionality that we are starting with.

Secondly, this was not a decision settled using the RJR-Macdonald test.  In fact RJR hadn't come out yet.  It's very specific to this particular case.  In fact, the government was arguing in favour of a stay of the Divisional Court decision so that money could continue to be collected, and the Board said -- and this is I think that paragraph that Mr. Vegh was referring to:
"In this case we acknowledge that the boards are acting in the public interest in imposing the education development charges." 

And the legislation permitted the boards to do that.  Then they say:
"At this stage of the proceeding, that is prima facie so..."

Sorry:
"However if their method of doing so is unconstitutional and at this stage of the proceedings that is prima facie so, then we see no reason why these boards should continue to collect charges pending appeal.  They have other methods of raising funds for educational purposes."


So it's the government not meeting whatever test was necessary to have the decision stayed, and then there is no further analysis.  But that is certainly far from saying, as a general proposition, that if a government has other methods of raising money, that there is no public interest in money-collecting legislation.

So, in my submission, that endorsement is totally distinguishable and not helpful to the present case.  We have to apply the RJR test.  There is a very low threshold for the government to show that legislation is in the public interest.


One can still look, of course, at the balance of inconvenience and -- or convenience depending on how you characterize it, but I submit to you that the fact that it is not -- or that the irreparable harm alleged or the harm alleged is very speculative, it's not at all certain that the monies couldn't be gotten back, either from the utility or the government.

In fact, King Street would suggest the opposite, that when you are looking at that very low level of speculation, then, as to harm and balancing that with legislation which has been passed in the public interest to support particular programs for consumers on the basis that consumers pay for the program, user-pay, that that balance is not met in favour of those seeking the stay.

So that's my very short argument.

And I would just conclude with how the court has characterized the concept of inconvenience.  This is in RJR-Macdonald, and it's at page 25 of tab 16, paragraph 71:

"In our view, the concept of inconvenience should be widely construed in Charter cases.  In the case of public authority, the onus of demonstrating irreparable harm to the public interest is less than that of a private applicant.  This is partly the function of the nature of the public authority and partly a function of the action sought to be enjoined.  The test will nearly always be satisfied simply upon proof that the authority is charged with a duty of promoting or protecting the public interest and upon some indication that the impugned legislation, regulation or activity was undertaken pursuant to that responsibility.  Once these minimal requirements have been met, the court in most cases should assume that irreparable harm to the public interest would result from this restraint of that action."

And so I submit to you on that test, this legislation is clearly in the public interest, and by staying your assessment you would be acting against the public interest by effectively suspending the legislation.

I think those are my submissions, unless you have any further questions.  And I will provide you a copy of the King Street case, and if my friends want to --

MR. WETSTON:  Yes.

MS. MINOR:  Sorry?

MR. WETSTON:  Go ahead.

MS. MINOR:  I can send it to my friends.  I don't know if they would want to make any submissions on it or not.

MR. WETSTON:  Let me ask you a few questions.  And some of them may be difficult for you to respond to, and if that's the case, I understand that.

There have been a number of suggestions around the risks associated with this; that is, money is collected from ratepayers, the LDC is just a vehicle for collecting the money, the Board is not involved at all.  It doesn't even come to the Board.  We are not collecting the money in that sense, like the education charges that were referred to.

Our only responsibility was -- and it's reflected in the regulation -- is to determine the formula and to set up a variance account, more or less.

Have I described that accurately?  I don't think there is much else.  Any -- if I am incorrect in that.

Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  The only nuance may be that in order to allow the LDCs to collect the money from ratepayers, they would have to have an approved charge, I think.

MR. WETSTON:  An approved charge?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under section 7 of the regulation, it talks about recovery from ratepayers, but I don't think they can simply add that to the bill.  I think they have to have that approved, but again, I may be mistaken.

But other than that --

MR. WETSTON:  I don't think anything turns on that, but thank you.  I don't think anything turns on it for the purposes of my question.

So basically the money comes from ratepayers through the LDC.  The Board, more or less, has set the formula, and the variance account is there for a particular reason, because it's out-of-period money.  We realize why it's there.  The forecast is there for a particular purpose.  And then the money flows to Finance.

So then the question, of course, that's been raised is there are risks associated with that, in the event that it's unconstitutional or held to be unconstitutional.

So let me ask you specifically, and I am going to propose something to you.  You see no risk in that, or you see a risk but it's not something that you can really address?

MS. MINOR:  Well –-

MR. WETSTON:  And you don't think the risk in any way outweighs the public interest, the convenience to ratepayers as opposed to convenience to the government?

MS. MINOR:  It goes back to the -- the risk that they are concerned about is not being able to recover the money if it's unconstitutional.

MR. WETSTON:  Right.

MS. MINOR:  And I am saying look at King Street, and that's my answer.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  So we will look at King Street.

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  Now, on the assumption, however, that it's held unconstitutional and on the assumption that King Street is the authority for the likely outcome, if I could put it that way, and let's say that on some basis a million dollars is collected from a utility and Finance gets this million dollars and I am going to assume that Finance is able to track where this money has come from, who has paid this money and the basis for it -- and how it's obviously, then, sort of managed is another issue.  Presumably you don't believe, I guess -- or perhaps the other parties might address this issue -- that the Board itself or that the utilities themselves through some kind of a deferral account that would be set up at the Board, would be unable to reduce the risk associated with ratepayers having paid this money -- I am not quite finished -- because at some future case, obviously it may not be able to be managed, given Mr. Vegh's comments on a one -- individual ratepayer-by-ratepayer basis, clearly the utility would be kept whole because it could be a set-off against a revenue requirement in a future proceeding, so that the LDC would not be out of money.

There is -- I would describe it as a small risk, if I could at this stage, to individual ratepayers potentially on an individual basis, but nevertheless to the LDC and its overall collection of this money from ratepayers, that they could be more or less held harmless through the process of ensuring that in the event it's held unconstitutional, it could get its money.  The money, at least, would have its revenue requirement offset in some future proceeding.

So I am asking you the question, and I guess some other parties may comment on it in a moment, whether or not that in any way reduces the notion of the risk associated with the collection of this money from ratepayers.  Do you have any comments on that?

MS. MINOR:  I don't see how it would, because the argument is not we don't know how much money is collected and as you say, the government -- if the government is ultimately responsible for repaying monies to the utility, who in turn then would be responsible for returning it to consumers, the fact that the Board was holding the money rather than the government, it to my mind makes no difference whatsoever.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, the Board wouldn't hold the money.

MS. MINOR:  Well, the account would -- it would be in a particular account.  I will put it that way.

But that's not -- I don't understand that to be the risk that the parties are arguing.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  So --

MS. MINOR:  And certainly it would not assist the government's program, because the government wouldn't have access to the money to run the program, so it would not be in the public to do that.  I would add that.

MR. WETSTON:  Of course I am not suggesting that the government doesn't get its money.  I am not suggesting that, and that's why I want to be fair in the question that I had asked you, which is the government would get its money, the LDCs would collect its money, the money would be clearly not -- the money would be collected from ratepayers.  All of that would occur.  What I am simply saying is two things.

On the assumption that the government, if it was found unconstitutional, would make or would take steps to ensure the money was repaid and that money would flow back to the LDC -- admittedly the money was collected from ratepayers -- that the Board would not have some tool to closely track that amount of money that was collected to ensure that obviously that refund would occur.

Now, admittedly, ratepayers would not get the money back specifically, because it would be very difficult to do that, just addressing some of the arguments.  But the LDC would have its revenue requirement offset in a future proceeding, and therefore the ratepayers would obviously not be paying that amount of money, so the offset would occur in some future proceeding.  That is really my question.

It's not the first time, I would think, that we have done that in some way or another, although top of mind I don't have an example to give you, but I am sure it happens a great deal.

And perhaps Staff might have an example of it that they might be able to provide as we're asking this question.

MR. MILLAR:  Any deferral account that's in a credit balance would be refunded to ratepayers through, I guess, an offset to the revenue requirement.

MR. WETSTON:  Many of you here who spend a lot of time on these matters would understand that.  So I am simply proposing and asking for comment on whether or not and how, if that is the case, how that affects the balance of convenience or potentially the irreparable harm issue that is being addressed by counsel in this proceeding.

So I am asking you, because I am asking whether or not somehow or another that is a consideration in how the Board might deal with the stay in the context of a regulatory process?  You may not have an answer to that question.

I think your answer to that question is it doesn't matter, because you don't believe that in any way or another the balance of convenience is in favour of the applicants in any event.

MS. MINOR:  That's the ultimate answer, and I have already responded with King Street on the irreparable harm issue.  And to my mind, what you are proposing is a sort of mechanism that would affect or would be a remedy if push came to shove and someone sued under King Street for the return of the monies.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, that remedy is a matter of independent decision by the Board, so that's not a matter that -- that would be a matter that the Board would have to decide in this particular case.

MS. MINOR:  Yes, yes.

MR. WETSTON:  But it doesn't in any way affect your argument from the point of view of your reliance on King Street and your reliance on RJR-Macdonald criteria; is that fair?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.

MR. WETSTON:  So thank you very much for your argument.  I know there will be some comments on what I have just said, and there may be some comments on Ms. Minor's.  I am not wanting to treat Ontario as an applicant and, therefore, providing reply here.  That would be inappropriate in the situation, but given the circumstances, I think some comments from counsel might be warranted.  Go ahead.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson (continued):


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, if I might, if I could just make a few points by way of comment.  First of all, just one point of fact.  Counsel for Ontario, if I understood it correctly, seemed to be suggesting that the province needs the money to fund programs on a prospective basis, and I would submit that on the facts I don't believe that's accurate.

What these assessments pertain to is money that has already been spent, and the source of those funds was already the consolidated revenue funds.  So it's -- this is money that the government -- it had already been sourced from taxpayers, in my respectful submission.

With respect to the public interest component of the balance of convenience test, I just want to make a couple of points here, and then move to your regulatory tools point, because that really is the focus of your questioning.  There is a suggestion from counsel for Ontario that there is a presumption of validity, and I would submit to you that there is no presumption of validity when the entity being directed to do something of questionable legality is itself a tribunal that has the power to adjudicate questions of law and jurisdiction.

So that's what moves this, in my respectful submission, going back to my earlier point, sort of beyond the discretionary tests.  And I made that point in my submissions in-chief.

Looking, however, at the alternative that the setting aside is not mandatory, as I submit, but discretionary, and then, again, looking at the public interest elements of the balance of convenience test, I would submit to you the public interest is better served by having the constitutional validity of questions pertaining to actions the Board has been directed to take, again, focussing on the tribunal aspect of this, determined before the Board acts, rather than after, so that you have constitutionally the horse in front of the cart and not reverse.

So I say that, in the circumstances of this particular case, if it's not mandatory to set aside, that circumstance of public interest heavily favours an exercise of discretion in favour of a stay, rather than the reverse.

Turning to the regulatory tools aspect of this, my submission is that you should be looking at - and I urge you to look at - tools associated with granting the stay as opposed to not granting it.  If you look at it from that aspect, you would be granting, in my submission, an interim order setting aside or staying the recovery from utilities, or, as Ms. DeMarco suggests, from consumers.  I suggest you should stay recovery from utilities.  That, in effect, protects consumers for the time being, until the constitutional issues have been determined on their merits.

And I would suggest that as a condition to that interim order setting aside or staying, you might say that if the assessments are found to be constitutionally valid, then the amounts assessed as of July 30th will be recoverable when validity is determined.

And that, in my submission, would be consistent with your desire to maintain, protect interests that could be harmed by staying this, and that type of order is often made in rate cases where an order that is made is made subject to refund or future adjustment.  This is a reverse.  It's subject to collection in future adjustment.

When you go the other way and look at it as an order denying the request for stay, and then trying to build conditions that protect utilities and consumers, I submit that you are running up against the public interest aspect of having the horse in front of the cart and not the reverse.

So that's why I urge you to favour the use of regulatory tools in conjunction with an interim order setting aside or staying, and those are my points.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Anybody else have any comments?  Mr. Vegh.
Submissions by Mr. Vegh (continued):

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  Just in terms of the two categories, the first is the risk issue.  And all I'd want to point out is that even with the deferral account mechanisms, if the utilities are required to give money to finance, then there are three risks that the Board cannot protect against using its regulatory tools.

The first goes to the King Street decision, and I agree with Ms. Minor that King Street gives you the right of recovery to principal amounts paid with the Courts of Justice Act, but there is no recovery for lost profits.  And lost profits are a traditional category of irreparable harm.

So in this case, if the $53 million was used by utilities in other services, they would get profit presumably at a Board rate of return.  So there is a lost profit risk, not the capital amount risk.

The other King Street-related risk is what the Board can't protect against is subsequent legislation by which the government effectively -- sorry, the legislature effectively recoups the tax.  And the Board, of course, can't protect against that risk, and we, today, can't predict what a future legislature may do.

Then the third risk that the Board can't really protect against for the use of deferral accounts is the class action risk I referred to.  A class action lawsuit can be brought by a class action complaint outside of the Board's control.  That's what happened last time, and despite the Board's remedies and orders.  And so a utility faces that exposure.

If amounts are collected from customers, then a class action lawsuit potential is there, and that will create its own risks and risk mitigation approaches, but obviously there is some uncertainty as to how that can play out.  It is just not within the Board's control how a class action lawsuit liability may play itself out.

So that's what I wanted to address on the risk point.  There are some risks that the Board can't control, once the utilities send the money to the government.

The second point I just wanted to address with respect to Ms. Minor's submissions was she suggested that I was putting forward this Home Builders' case for the proposition that if there is only money being collected, then there is no public interest involved.  And if I stated it that way, that is clearly an overstatement.  That's not what I meant to say and I don't -- I may have stated it wrong, if that's what Ms. Minor took from it.

I did, if I could -- if I can just point you to what the Court of Appeal said, and it's partially the reference Ms. Minor took you to.  It's at page 530, paragraph (d).  And the facts here were that the law was struck down as unconstitutional by the Divisional Court, fair enough, and so you didn't have an issue around the seriousness of the issue.

But as I heard Ms. Minor say, that is not an issue in this case anyway.  We are looking only at irreparable harm and balance of convenience.  And so how do you weigh the public interest in the balance of convenience or the balance of inconvenience.

You will see the Court of Appeal did not say that the school boards at issue, they were not acting in the public interest.  It starts off by saying:

"We acknowledge that the boards are acting in the public interest in imposing development charges."

It then goes on to say:

"But if those charges are unconstitutional..."

And in this case it's hypothetical; in that case, there was a decision.
"...then we see no reason why these boards should continue to collect these charges pending appeal.  They have other methods of raising funds for educational purposes."

And that's what I was emphasizing.

And then the next sentence I just want to take you to, because it does go on.  The court says:

"Having considered the possible detrimental effects on all parties, we are of the view that no further collection should be effected."

And my point there is that the Board was –- sorry, the court was considering the balance of convenience.  They weren't saying that the public interest is irrelevant, but when you look at the various interests involved, then that balance weighed in favour of not paying the taxes pending the appeal.  And one of the grounds for doing that -- not the sole, not the only ground -- was that school boards have other methods of raising funds for educational purposes.  And that's clearly the case here.

It's true that this was prior to RJR-Macdonald, but RJR-Macdonald is authority for applying this test of balance of convenience.  It's not like RJR-Macdonald invented this test of balance of convenience.  That's a traditional interlocutory motion test.  They just applied that in the constitutional context.

And you see the court's language here is applying the balance of convenience.  It's refers to the possible detrimental effects to all parties, so it's weighing this balance in the same way as RJR-Macdonald weighed the balance.

Thank you, sir.  Those are my submissions, subject to any questions you may have.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.

Ms. DeMarco?
Submissions by Ms. DeMarco (continued):


MS. DeMARCO:  My submissions are predominantly by way of clarification.

Just in terms of my friend Mr. Thompson's submissions, there seemed to be an inference that our preference was to stay only the collection of the charges from consumers, but let me make it clear on the record that the strong preference is to have the Board order a stay of the recovery from utilities with an express indication that utilities not collect that amount from consumers in the interim intervening period.

One of the worst situations, in our view, that could arise would be that a stay is ordered in terms of collection from utilities, but that utilities proceed in the interim to collect from consumers.

So certainly the number of harms that we discussed on the record relating to public confusion in the marketplace, the billing confusion, and also in relation to the parity of matching who actually paid with the redistribution or repayment of those funds would be exacerbated in that circumstance.

We put forward the alternative tool for your consideration strictly as that, an alternative, and the words of Section 6 and Section 7 of the regulation must be instructive to you in that regard.  Specifically Section 6 indicates that:

"On or before July 30th, 2010, each person or member of a class of persons assessed under Section 2 shall remit the assessed amount."

And it goes on to indicate the amount.

Section 7 indicates that:

"A distributor licensed under part 5 of the act may recover from persons to whom it distributes electricity in its service area."

And then it goes on to stipulate the formula.

In the alternative, and strictly in the alternative, we would submit that the Board could issue a stay in relation to the collection from ultimate consumers, customers in the service areas, pending the determination of this issue.

MR. WETSTON:  Why do you think they are different?

MS. DeMARCO:  In terms of the two steps, I think it goes back to the original nature of your decisions that are outlined in our submissions to you.  There are two clear steps.  First was the assessment letter, and the second was the discretion that you exercised in determining a process and establishing the variance account by which they may be assessed.

So I think the regulation contemplates within two sections the difference.  Your own actions in relation to the assessment letter and the variance account letter contemplates two distinct actions, and in fact the nature of the harm, I think you, yourself, have indicated as more challenging in relation to recovery or repayment of the multitudes of customers versus regulatory mechanisms to address the limited number of LDCs.

I hope that's addressed your question.

MR. WETSTON:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.  Nothing?  Mr. Warren, do you have any further submissions?

MR. WARREN:  I have no further submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Well, thank you for that, Ms. Minor.

MS. MINOR:  I have one comment if that's okay.

MR. WETSTON:  Certainly.
Submissions by Ms. Minor (continued):


MS. MINOR:  I just want to respond to Mr. Thompson's correct description of the cost being collected as historical.  That is certainly the case, but it doesn't change anything.  That's a distinction without a difference.  It's the cost of funding a program through user-pay charges.  So it is still funding the program.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Thank you.

So I think that concludes that part, and now we are on to the final issue, which is costs, and whether or not you are here in your official capacity as an intervenor or as a moving party.
SUBMISSIONS ON STANDING:

Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Neither one of is here as a -- I take it there is no dispute that Mr. Leblanc is properly here as a party.

MR. WETSTON:  I hear none.

MR. WARREN:  I am not sure in what order you would like to hear the issues, Mr. Chairman.  Let me deal with the standing issue briefly.

In our factum at paragraphs 75 through 77 -- you don't need to turn it up -- we deal with the issue of standing.  There are the four cases, Thorsen, McNeil, Borowski, and Finlay, which are the benchmark cases for issues of standing.  All of those cases were ones, roughly speaking, in which the issue was whether or not a taxpayer or a person affected by a decision could bring a complaint about the constitutionality of legislation.  The courts went through the historic role of the Attorney General to bring those actions and rule that individuals could.

There have been cases in which the issue of representative status –- a representative group has brought applications for standing and been denied because there were individuals involved.

Our position on this simply is that it is the practice of this Board and has been for many years to see representative groups like my client or Mr. Thompson's client as representatives, legitimately representatives of their constituencies, and that there is a broad discretion in the Board to grant standing as a party to my client.

Failing that argument, I would ask that at least my client be granted intervenor status.

Those are my submissions on that point.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  I don't know whether my friend Ms. Minor wants to deal with that point now, before I get on to the cost issue.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

Ms. Minor?

MS. MINOR:  That's fine, if that's satisfactory.

MR. WETSTON:  Sure.  Go ahead.
Submissions by Ms. Minor:


MS. MINOR:  All right.  The public interest cases set out tests which have to be met and, again, the first one being -- and I am just referring to, in fact, my friend's factum at paragraph 74, that the proceeding raises a serious legal question, the Plaintiff has a genuine interest in the resolution of the matter, and thirdly, that there are no other reasonable and effective manners for the question to be brought.

And that test, that last test is failed immediately, because the action can clearly be brought by any ratepayer.  And now we, in fact, have a ratepayer who is going to bring the challenge.  So there is absolutely no way they can meet that test.

Without Mr. Leblanc, e would have argued that it's still not met, because it was open to any consumer to bring a challenge and the fact that a lobby group wishes to is their own -- doesn't make it a live Plaintiff.

But now with a live applicant before us, it's quite clear there are reasonable and effective manners for the question to be brought without the Consumers Council going forward.

Again, we have no objection to their being added as an intervenor.  As my friends have said, these organizations represent groups that can make a valuable contribution, and that's in your discretion.  We are not objecting.

MR. WETSTON:  In the event that that occurs, who will represent Mr. Leblanc?

MR. WARREN:  We do, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you for that clarification.  Okay, thank you so much, Ms. Minor.  Shall we move on to the cost issue, then?

SUBMISSIONS ON COSTS:

Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  I think it falls to me, Mr. Chairman, to lead on this issue.  My submissions will be brief.  As the Board is aware, in Procedural Order No. 1, I believe the Board has said that there would not be any costs issued for the threshold issue.  But as I think as the Board -- as you have acknowledged somewhat wryly at the opening of this session, we have gone from Q to a serious constitutional case, and the circumstances, in my respectful submission, are somewhat different than they were at the time Procedural Order No. 1 was issued. 

Stepping back from this, as the Board is well aware, it uses costs awards to facilitate participation by those who are affected by the Board's decisions.  It has done so.  It imposes, entirely legitimately, requirements that those who participate and seek awards of cost participate responsibly and effectively. 

In that context and against the Board's traditional use of cost awards, the Procedural Order No. 1 was an unusual, if you wish, prohibition on seeking cost awards for the preliminary phase.  I am assuming, and I don't know this, but I am assuming that the reason why the Board took the unusual step of including that provision in Procedural Order No. 1 was really twofold.  One was to ensure that any challenge was not a frivolous one, and to in effect discourage people from making frivolous motions to the Board.  

In my respectful submission, this is clearly not a frivolous motion, that what my clients have done in this case is brought forward an issue of considerable public importance.  This is implicitly acknowledged by -- or perhaps explicitly acknowledged by the Province of Ontario in its position that there is a serious issue, constitutional issue, to be considered, even if we disagree at the end of the day whether or not it is constitutional. 

The decision of the Supreme Court of Canada, the late decision in the Supreme Court of Canada, in Regina v. Conway reiterated the obligation of regulatory bodies to consider constitutional questions.  I say with no disrespect that but for the motion that's been brought by my clients, that the constitutional issue would not have been considered.  

In those circumstances, Mr. Chairman, and in keeping with your traditional use of the role of the cost awards, I would ask that the Board consider awarding costs to my client, assuming that the Board believes that they have proceeded, participated responsibly and effectively.  Those are my submissions, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Warren, who would pay the costs?  Who would pay these costs?

MR. WARREN:  I think it's the electricity LDCs who would pay the costs, Mr. Chairman.

MR. WETSTON:  How would we ensure they are not objecting to paying these costs, which would be the normal course, obviously, in cost situations?  What do we do about that?

MR. WARREN:  There are two responses to that.  One is that they have -- that it's a matter of public knowledge that this matter is being considered, but if the Board is concerned - and I understand the concern about notice - that the Board could, for the remaining phase of this proceeding, give notice that the Board is considering awarding costs in respect of the entire proceeding from beginning to end, and have an opportunity for the LDCs to make submissions at that point.

MR. WETSTON:  So you would agree that some notice would be required?

MR. WARREN:  I agree that's appropriate in the circumstances and to have them.  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson?
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have addressed this in my factum in paragraphs 29 to 33.  Just on the question of notice, there was in my factum the proposal that the Board reconsider its question of cost awards and cost award eligibility, and that factum was served on all of the licensed electricity distributors and the IESO.

And Enbridge and Union are parties to these proceedings.  So when Mr. Warren says all licensed electricity distributors and gas utilities should pay, the only one that doesn't receive notice is that small one down in - what's it called - NRG.  

So you might want to take that into consideration on the notice issue.  I wanted to make it clear, though, that what I am asking for and what I believe what Mr. Warren is asking for is the traditional type of cost award, cost eligibility process that takes place in proceedings before the Board where issues arise in which ratepayers representatives that are eligible for cost award consideration participate responsibly.

And we are not asking that Ontario be exposed to the cost award regime that we are asking you to reconsider.  So I don't know if that gives my friend from Ontario any comfort, or not, but I wanted to make that clear. 

On the rationale for the order, it's essentially one of fairness, and I have set that out in my factum.  I submit that it's unfair to preclude the ratepayer representatives that initiated and supported this process, in a bona fide attempt to benefit ratepayers, from seeking cost award eligibility and, if eligible, an award of their costs of participating in the process. 

The only other point that I would like to mention is that if you were to state a case to the Divisional Court for its opinion, in my submission, that's still part of the process before the Board, in the sense you are sending it up there to get an opinion of the court and it would come back here.  

My submission would be that the cost award regime would prevail throughout the entire process.  It starts and finishes at the Board.  Those are my submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  So just one question.  So you don't think the government should pay costs?  They would be a party to this proceeding.  Why wouldn't they pay costs?  Why would the LDCs have to pay the costs?  I mean, as a party to this proceeding, any party could be required to pay costs.  

Why are you letting them off the hook so easily, Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Good question.  I probably shouldn't be.  

MR. WETSTON:  No, perhaps you shouldn't be.

MR. THOMPSON:  I should reconsider.

MR. WETSTON:  You addressed that issue, but I have to ask you the question.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I understand.  Well, my answer is that utilities don't have to pay -- fine, include the government.  Thank you very much.

MR. WETSTON:  I just wanted to get it on the record, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  You forced me to reconsider.

MR. WETSTON:  I guess that's a quid pro quo.  Mr. Vegh?

Submissions by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Just one point.  Union has no position on whether costs should be awarded or Mr. Warren's suggestion that costs be awarded against electric utilities and the IESO, who are subject to the assessment.  

Mr. Thompson included in his sweep gas utilities, but we are intervenors in this case.  Union is an intervenor in this case.  Enbridge is an intervenor in this case.  These utilities are not being assessed, and I just don't think it's appropriate for these utilities to be assessed for the costs of the case.

Those are my submissions on the cost issue.

MR. WETSTON:  The case continues to become more and more interesting when you examine who is being assessed, who is not being assessed, and who is participating as an intervenor, and who is seeking cost awards and from whom, but it's the nature of this, as I said, from Q to constitutionality all in one sweep. Any other comments on cost awards?  I will get to Ms. Minor in a moment.

Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Only briefly, that the Association of Power Producers of Ontario would also like to be considered, should any cost eligibility be made available, on the following grounds.  The first is that this is a very important issue to be heard by the Board, with some significant potential precedent-setting effects.  In that regard, a number of the intervenors and/or the applicant, depending on how they are characterized, have made some very valuable contributions in attempting to assist the Board in determining this issue.

Specific to APPrO, we do feel that we have participated responsibly, particularly in light of the late intervention and on very limited time, and, secondly, made valuable contributions in relation the combined relief, which was somewhat unique, and, secondly, in relation to potential alternative regulatory tools to assist the Board in its disposition of the stay issue.  So certainly in that regard, we would hope to be eligible. 

In relation to who pays, our view is that specifically given the nature of this, it would be one of the electricity LDCs and/or the AG, or both.  

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Any comments on costs?
Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  We raised the issue in our factum.

MR. WETSTON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think we set out in our intervention the normal submissions on why VECC would be eligible for costs.  Other than to reiterate what's been put before you, I have nothing else to add, except to say that we are, of course, mindful of the direction, not only in this particular case but in all cases, and in the practice direction that the parties act together not to overlap or unduly overlap their submissions or duplicate effort.  And we are mindful of that, and that's apparent in terms of, for example, the joint book of authorities, and very clearly leads being assigned to certain intervenors on certain issues.

So those are my submissions.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.

Ms. Minor, any comments on costs?

MS. MINOR:  Yes.  As I understand it, the parties are not asking just for the costs of this motion, but asking for advance costs in order to fund the litigation. 

MR. WARREN:  No.

MS. MINOR:  No?
Submissions by Mr. Warren (continued):


MR. WARREN:  Just for the cost of this motion – sorry.  I apologize, Mr. Chairman, for speaking directly to Ms. Minor.


For clarification, we are asking for costs of this motion and not funding in advance. 

MS. MINOR:  Thank you for that clarification.  I didn't understand that. 
Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if I might clarify the same thing.  Certainly, APPrO's intention was the costs on this motion, and made no submissions in relation to any stated case or costs thereafter.
Submissions by Mr. Thompson (continued):


MR. THOMPSON:  My submissions are broader.  I am asking for cost award eligibility in this process, and at the end of the case an opportunity to ask for costs not only on this motion but whatever else happens.  

MR. WETSTON:  I understand.  Ms. Minor?
Submissions by Ms. Minor:


MS. MINOR:  I am not sure I do, I confess.  When you say cost eligibility, you just mean that you can ask for costs -- does that mean he can ask for costs at the end because he is an intervenor?

MR. WETSTON:  Yes. 

MS. MINOR:  Depending on the outcome or not?

MR. WETSTON:  Well, normally eligibility is determined in the beginning and the cost awards are made at the end of the proceeding.

MS. MINOR:  I see.

MR. WETSTON:  So take a rate case from beginning to end.  It might take 11 months from beginning to end, although they are much quicker these days, I would say.  But normally, the eligibility is determined upfront, which is what Mr. Thompson is getting at, and at the end the cost award is then determined by a cost award panel.


So in essence, I think Mr. Warren is saying he wants costs for this and is not asking for the cost award for the other, at this stage anyway.

I suspect you will be coming in asking for the cost award for the constitutional argument, in the event that we have it before this Board.

Certainly there is going to be a phase 2.  We know that already.  The question is whether or not we simply assemble the facts in the record for the court, or deal with the issue here.  There will be further costs.

So are you seeking cost eligibility at this point, as Mr. Thompson is suggesting, or just the motion?  And do you wish to cross that bridge when you come to it?  I think that's Ms. Minor's question.
Submissions by Mr. Warren (continued):


MR. WARREN:  To be specific about the relief we are seeking, we are asking for the Board to in effect reconsider Procedural Order No. 1, which said no costs are available.

MR. WETSTON:  Right.

MR. WARREN:  Secondly, what we are asking for is our costs for this proceeding.  If the Board -- we haven't gone as far as Mr. Thompson, but it strikes me that logically if the Board is going to do that, the Board may decide criteria for cost eligibility, but we haven't -– we'll burn that bridge when we get to it.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just to clarify, Mr. Chair, in that regard as well –- apologies -- again, APPrO's thinking is that the request -- we will reserve the right to request further cost eligibility once the Board determines what the further process should be.

MR. WETSTON:  Okay.

Ms. Minor?
Submissions by Ms. Minor (continued):


MS. MINOR:  I submit that you should reserve your decision on costs until the end of the matter, and then costs may follow the event.  I am not -- I have no submission on whether costs should be payable by any of the other intervenors, but in my submission, the costs of today's motion should not be paid by the Attorney General. 

MR. WETSTON:  Well, they are a party, and are the beneficiaries of the money.

MS. MINOR:  And as I say, that may be taken into account when –-

MR. WETSTON:  And so it's not the typical kind of situation where costs awards are given to intervenors in these proceedings for certain purposes, and generally those intervenors you see here represent certain individuals or groups, residential or industrial consumers or whatever, and bring these issues before the Board for reasons that are well known to us.  And then those cost awards are generally -- as I asked, who pays? -- are generally paid by the LDCs as determined by a panel of this Board, sometimes the same panel, sometimes a different panel than the panel that heard the actual case. 

So no intervenor is paying the cost awards, and we are not treating the Attorney General as an intervenor here.  We are treating it more as a party, since we can ask a party in certain circumstances to pay costs.

But I think what I am hearing here is the suggestion from everyone is that -- including Mr. Thompson, to some extent -- that basically the LDCs should pay the cost in the traditional sense, as would be the normal case in a proceeding before the Board.  If, for example, a utility brought a rate application before this Board and the intervenors intervened in that proceeding, they would normally seek a cost eligibility and a cost award at the end of the proceeding.

So I don't want you to think that in this situation that intervenors are paying costs.

Now, we do have utilities here, but the utilities that are here seem to have avoided this issue for the time being, and therefore they are not being assessed.  Whether or not they will be assessed for a cost award may be another question, of course, but they are not being assessed, at least with respect to the special purpose charge at this time.

So that's the framework in which we're looking at this issue, cost eligibility, and at the end of the proceeding, what the cost award will be. 

MS. MINOR:  And at the end of the proceeding, then, I would take it that we would have an opportunity to make submissions on whether costs should be awarded at all, or to whom?

MR. WETSTON:  Generally, no, because basically that's not your issue.  It's the LDC who normally has to pay these costs.

MS. MINOR: Well, yes.

MR. WETSTON:  And the Board will have to make a decision.  That's what's a bit unusual about this proceeding.

Normally, you have an LDC on the other end that may be opposing certain aspects of the costs that are requested, since these costs are paid by the LDC.  But lo and behold, consumers pay those costs as well, since it's a regulatory charge.

MS. MINOR:  Well, it --

MR. WETSTON:  So that's the process, and I don't mean to turn this into an exercise in discussing how this is all going to unfold, but that's the process.

MS. MINOR:  Thank you very much.

MR. WETSTON:  That's what's unusual about the situation.
Submissions by MR. Bunoaguro (continued):


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just for my friend's sake, which I think is implicit for the people who are here normally, but which may not be explicit to my friend, is that the reason that intervenors usually get cost eligibility is because they represent a constituency within the LDC's rate customers.

MR. WETSTON:  Rate classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then when the Board talks about the LDCs paying the costs, what they -- that means that the LDCs then recover those costs from the customers, who are only subject to that charge because they are being represented by the intervenors who are given cost eligibility.

So it's not a traditional cost regime in the sense that it would follow the event in terms of win or loss.  It's more of a mechanism for recovering –- in my view, a mechanism for recovering the costs of being represented at all.

MR. WETSTON:  Now you are getting close to Procedural Order No. 1.  So we need to be persuaded, obviously.  That's the rationale.  Thank you, sir, for your input. 

Any comments?
Submissions by Ms. Minor (continued):


MS. MINOR:  Based on that rationale, Ontario shouldn't pay costs of the motion.

And with respect to the argument that Ontario should, it is not quite asking for advance costs but it's, as I understand it, it's asking for costs in any event.  And it would be unusual for a court to make that order in advance, that costs would be paid in any event by a particular party.

MR. WETSTON:  Yes.

MS. MINOR:  Because that is an effect like the Okanagan case, which --

MR. WETSTON:  Right.  Well, welcome to the world of regulation.  But nobody really made that request that the AG pay costs.  I raised it, and I didn't hear anyone really pursuing that issue.  

The overall consensus would be if costs are awarded, LDCs should pay.  They should receive notice.  Mr. Thompson indicated that he served his materials on all of the LDCs who may be subject to the charge, so...


I do think, however, as Mr. Warren indicated, that if a cost award is issued, perhaps further notice to the LDCs should be provided in the event that they have any objection.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may, I believe there actually is a representative from PowerStream here who may wish to address you. 

MR. WETSTON:  Well, why not?
Submissions by Ms. Dade:


MS. DADE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, and to the group, and I do appreciate the opportunity to speak on this item.  As we all know, the Procedural Order No. 1 says that there were not going to be costs awarded in this decision, in this process.  And many of the LDCs looked to that procedural order and acted accordingly, and did not put forward intervenor requests at the time.  

It is -- I can see where everything is going within the hearing and how we are moving forward on it, but I do have a concern that the LDC in itself is only the entity that is following the Order-In-Council and the direction, and, in fact, really has not been part of the argument of whether something is constitutional done by the OEB and through the Government of Ontario.  

So I would argue that the LDC should be kept harmless in this process and that it would not be the responsibility of the electric LDCs to pay the cost of this process or this hearing.

MR. WETSTON:  Well, you will agree that that's just a question of timing?  They will recover the money.

MS. DADE:  Again, Mr. Chair, you are right this is a different proceeding, and the fact is that, yes -- 

MR. WETSTON:  That wasn't my point.  My point was, in the event that costs are ordered, the LDC will recover it, but it's just a question of time as to when they recover those costs.  That's really my only point.

MS. DADE:  Well, I was going back to your point also, Mr. Chair, that you said this is also a different type of proceeding, and maybe then we should make things different all the way down the line and make others responsible for the costs.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?
Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Just in 10 seconds, I just would remind the Board that the power to award costs comes from section 30, and this gets to Mr. Thompson's point.  It says the Board may order a person to pay all or part of a person's costs of participating in a proceeding before the Board, notice or comment process.  

Mr. Thompson was, I think, asking that you extend that to cover any stated case to the Divisional Court.  I ask whether that's actually encompassed in section 30 or not, but those are my only comments.

MR. WETSTON:  Any comments on Mr. Millar's comments?
Submissions by Mr. Thompson (continued):


MR. THOMPSON:  No, other than to say I disagree.  If you send something up for an opinion, I don't think you want to have costs prevent people sitting on other side of the issue participating in that process.  So I would urge that Mr. Millar's interpretation is too narrow.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Any other comments on that?  So does that conclude all of the issues?

MR. WARREN:  From my perspective as the applicant, the cause of the problem, it does, sir.

MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Any other comments?  

Well, we will reserve, obviously, the decision on these issues.  We recognize that timing is important and the 30th is around the corner.  You might expect - and I am not suggesting what we will do, but just given the timing - that we might address some of these issues severally, if that's the appropriate word, as we give more thought to how we would organize the proceeding going forward.  And we will issue something obviously of importance to get the procedure moving with respect to filing of your evidence and the facts associated with -- the facts that we need to adduce for the constitutional issue, and so we will certainly do that. 

And obviously the stay issue is the more pressing issue I would think that we need to address more immediately.  We obviously will address the costs issue, as well.  How we decide to deal with the issue of whether we hear it or the stated case issue, we may take a bit more time on that.  On the other hand, we may not, but certainly we need to address the stay issue because of the date, the imminent date, obviously, for the assessment. 

So should we stay it, the LDCs need to know that.  Should we not stay it, the LDCs need to know that for obvious reasons. 

Unless there are any other comments, then I think we can conclude the proceedings for today.  And, as I say, we will reserve the decision on those issues, and those decisions will be forthcoming.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:47 p.m.



















PAGE  

